



World Health Organization Collaborating Centre on Investment for Health and Well-being



James Dougla

No place like home?

Exploring the health and well-being impact of COVID-19 on housing and housing insecurity

Summary Report

Public Health Wales: Louise Woodfine, Liz Green, Laura Evans, Lee Parry-Williams, Christian Heathcote-Elliott, Charlotte Grey, Sumina Azam, Mark A Bellis

Chartered Institute of Housing: Yoric Irving-Clarke, Matthew Kennedy, Catherine May

November 2021



Suggested citation:

Woodfine L, Green L, Evans L, Parry-Williams L, Heathcote-Elliott C, Grey CNB, Irving-Clarke Y, Kennedy M, May C. Azam S, and Bellis MA (2021). **No place like home? Exploring the health and well-being impact of COVID-19 on housing and housing insecurity**. Main Report. Cardiff, Public Health Wales NHS Trust.

Acknowledgements

The authors would like to thank colleagues in Public Health Wales, and participants of the workshops and interviews who engaged in this work and provided valuable insight into housing insecurity.

The authors would also like to thank Adam Jones and Laura Morgan for their advice and feedback in the development of this report, and Andrea Parr who supported the organisation of the workshops.

ISBN 978-1-78986-154-360 © 2021 Public Health Wales NHS Trust. Material contained in this document may be reproduced under the terms of the Open Government Licence (OGL) <u>www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3/</u> provided it is done so accurately and is not used in a misleading context. Acknowledgement to Public Health Wales NHS Trust to be stated.

Copyright in the typographical arrangement, design and layout belongs to Public Health Wales NHS Trust.

Contents

Executive Summary 2			
Infographic			
1	Introduction	8	
	1.1 Background	10	
2	Methods	12	
3	Analysis	14	
	3.1 Population groups	14	
	3.2 Determinants of health and well-being	21	
4	Key Findings	32	
	4.1 Opportunities	33	
	4.2 Key evidence gaps	33	
	4.3 Future actions	33	
5	Conclusion	35	
6	References	36	

Executive summary

The COVID-19 pandemic, and measures to reduce transmission of the virus, has had many wide-ranging impacts on the population of Wales, and has led to many people spending more time in their homes, highlighting the importance of good quality and secure housing.

The need for security in relation to having and keeping a home and being surrounded by a safe and consistent home environment, and its impact on both physical and mental health and well-being has long been recognised. During times of uncertainty, such as in the COVID-19 pandemic, a home can provide a secure and stable base for individuals and households to help them respond to and recover from the pandemic and its effects.

National programmes of welfare and housing support have been introduced in response to the pandemic and include a wide range of measures to support tenants and prevent homelessness.

This comprehensive and participatory Health Impact Assessment (HIA) explores the health and well-being impact of COVID-19 on housing and housing insecurity, and looks at the importance of having a consistent home that is of good quality, affordable, and feels safe. It also considers security of tenure in relation to stability, and being able to maintain a roof over one's head and ultimately prevent homelessness. It is the third in a series, which focus on the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on the population of Wales including the 'Staying at Home and Social Distancing Policy' and the impact of home and agile working. This report can be read in conjunction with these and the sections on housing and home working within them.

The evidence in this report and the previous HIAs carried out, can assist policy and decisionmakers when considering the impact of the pandemic on housing and housing insecurity, so that potential inequalities and negative impacts can be reduced, and future opportunities for positive health and well-being maximised. No place like home? Exploring the health and well-being impact of COVID-19 on housing and housing insecurity: Summary Report



Key Findings

The economic impacts of the pandemic have had a negative effect on those on a low-income, women and young people. Reduced income will have caused further hardship for those on a low-income, which could be exacerbated through their precarious living situation (see Sections 3.1.1, 3.1.2, 3.1.4 and 3.1.6).

Private renters are at increased risk of insecure housing due to housing being less affordable during an economic crisis. However, mitigation measures, such as the suspension on evictions and Tenancy Saver Loan scheme provided by Welsh Government and other agencies (see Sections 3.1.2, 3.2.1 and 3.2.5) will have helped many.

Some women, children and young people have been at greater risk of harm from violence and abuse or exposure to this, through spending more time at home during the pandemic, and Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (VAWDASV) has been exacerbated. There is also a lack of refuges where those at risk of VAWDASV can access support (particularly face-to-face support) and safe housing (see Sections 3.1.6 and 3.2.3).

The pandemic has highlighted the positive impact of housing and welfare COVID-19 support measures. For example, homelessness prevention schemes have provided temporary accommodation, however some risk becoming homeless again when support measures end (see Sections 3.1.3, 3.2.3 and 3.2.5).

There has been an increase in neighbourhoods coming together to support one another. However, some individuals and population groups have been affected negatively, such as feeling isolated or being unable to access support (see Sections 3.2.1, 3.2.3, 3.2.6).

Positive and negative impacts



- The provision of emergency accommodation for those experiencing homelessness has enabled some to have a route into more permanent housing, although for some this is a temporary measure (see Sections 3.1.3 and 3.2.7).
- Increased collaborative working between housing staff and residents, building connections and trust (see Section 3.2.6).
- Communities coming together to support each other and help neighbours in response to the pandemic, which can lead to a feeling of increased sense of belonging in one's community (see Section 3.2.3).
- There has been a perceived increase in people asking for help and support from housing and advice services (see Sections 3.1.2, 3.2.1, 3.2.6 and 3.2.7).
- Response measures such as the increase in notice periods for evictions, rent / mortgage holidays, and the £20 uplift to Universal Credit have provided increased security and support to tenants and owner-occupiers; however the measures are temporary and implications of their potential withdrawal are currently unknown (see Sections 3.1.2, and 3.2.7).
- There is a unique opportunity to connect housing and planning policy in with a green recovery plan and supporting sustainable communities (see Section 3.2.7).

) The HIA also identified **negative** impacts on health and well-being:

- The impact of reduced incomes and eligibility for some benefits has been felt hardest by the most vulnerable population groups e.g. those already in insecure and poor quality housing, living on low-incomes and / or with existing health problems. These households and individuals are particularly susceptible to homelessness and fuel poverty because of higher housing costs, higher energy costs (because of energy-inefficient housing), and the higher cost of other household bills (see Sections 3.1.1, 3.2.1, 3.2.5 and 3.2.7).
- Those who are homeless are more likely to engage in health harming behaviours, which may have been exacerbated by the pandemic (see Section 3.2.2).
- People required to work at home may be experiencing affordability issues caused by increased energy costs as a result of staying at home for longer periods. Not all homes are suitable for home working (see Section 3.1.5).
- The pandemic and associated lockdowns have had negative impacts upon mental health and well-being, particularly for those experiencing homelessness, young people, private rented tenants and for those struggling financially (see Sections 3.1.2, 3.1.3, 3.1.4, 3.2.1 and 3.2.3).
- Reduced security of tenure and transiency impact upon an individual's ability to set down roots in their local communities. This negatively affects their sense of belonging in the community and ontological security (consistency of one's environment, home as a secure base). Stay at home policies have compounded this, by making it difficult for people to establish and maintain physical support networks (see Sections 3.2.1 and 3.2.3).
- A lack of tenancy continuity and / or rent arrears caused by the pandemic could become a barrier to gaining secure accommodation now and in the future. This may lead to a cycle of insecure tenure and risk of homelessness a particular issue in the private rented sector (see Sections 3.1.2 and 3.2.3).

Future Actions

Future actions that can promote individual, household and community well-being are outlined below:

Raise awareness and understanding of good quality housing standards across tenures that increase people's sense of housing security and help to maintain well-being. This includes ensuring that homes are fit for home working both now and in the future (see Sections 3.1.1, 3.1.2, 3.1.3, and 3.2.4).

Invest in affordable, safe and sustainable housing as part of a 'green' pandemic recovery, and support sustainable place-making as outlined in Planning Policy Wales¹ (see Section 3.2.7).

Increase communication and strengthen collaboration between Registered Social Landlords, local authorities and housing developers, planners and communities, and re-think the design of housing to consider households' changing future needs.

Ensure that individuals and households have access to good quality local green and blue infrastructure, to benefit physical and mental well-being (see Sections 3.1.4, 3.1.5, 3.2.1, and 3.2.7).

Raise awareness, and increase the availability of support services for those at risk of insecure housing, working with a range of public, statutory and voluntary sector organisations such as housing, local authorities, social services, and third sector. This could include support services for those who are: financially precarious; have existing mental health and well-being issues; are at risk of violence and abuse in the home; at risk of food and fuel poverty (see Sections 3.1.1, 3.1.2, 3.1.3 and 3.2.6).

Encourage longer-term tenancies to give tenants greater security and greater protection from eviction, and balance this with the needs of landlords, to reduce barriers to gaining future secure accommodation (see Section 3.1.2).

Provide landlords with more support and information to understand and support their tenants who are experiencing mental health difficulties (see section 3.1.2).

Ensure that private sector landlords are registered with Rent Smart Wales to improve individuals' and households' experiences of private renting. Consider awareness raising campaigns to benefit landlords and tenants (see Section 3.2.6).

Undertake further research on housing insecurity across specific population groups including asylum seekers and refugees; lesbian, gay, bi-sexual, transgender, questioning and other sexual identities (LGBTQ+) in Wales (see Section 4.2).

¹ Planning Policy Wales is a national policy which outlines guidance for making planning decisions in Wales and can be found at https://gov.wales/planning-policy-wales

Monitor the uptake and impact of financial housing related support provided by the UK and Welsh Government in response to the pandemic. Assess the impact of removing these support measures to identify those most affected, to revise support measures for the future (see Sections 3.1.1, 3.1.2, 3.2.5, 3.2.7).

Increase the supply of good quality, affordable and sustainable housing into recovery plans to enhance housing security and sustainable environments (see Section 3.2.7).

Invest in the prevention of violence and Adverse Childhood Experiences (ACEs) to make families and communities more resilient to violence in the home (see Section 3.2.3).

Conclusion

The pandemic and related response measures have had a differential impact on people according to their current housing circumstances, with a broad range of positive and negative impacts in the short and long-term.

This HIA has highlighted the links between secure housing and improved physical and mental health. For people with a safe, secure, warm, and affordable home, who have the ability to work from home, the impact is far less than for people who are already facing challenges such as housing and financial insecurity, overcrowding, and living in an abusive environment.

This HIA has highlighted the links between secure housing and improved physical and mental health.

This report has identified positive and negative impacts of the pandemic on housing and housing insecurity in relation to economic, environmental, social, physical, and mental well-being. It has reinforced that home is not a safe place for everyone, nor does everyone in the population have access to a home, or a high quality-housing environment. There are a number of actions that could be considered by policy-makers and organisations to increase the positive impacts and opportunities to decrease the negative effects.

This HIA, along with the previous HIAs carried out in relation to the COVID-19 pandemic, can support sectors and organisations to work together to pave a path for change in future housing and health policy that is relevant to housing insecurity. **This** will enable households, individuals, and future generations to have good quality housing, and a home that feels safe, stable and secure for the future.



www.whiasu.wales.nhs.uk

1. Introduction

The Coronavirus pandemic (COVID-19) has caused illness and death affecting millions of people across the world (WHO, 2021), and the outcomes of COVID-19 are influenced by the wider determinants of health, including the way in which people live and where they live. Poverty and the environment, for example housing and homelessness, can have a considerable impact on COVID-19 outcomes (Dyakova et al., 2021). Subsequently, in response to the pandemic, there have been many policy, social, and behavioural interventions implemented across the globe to minimise the risk of spread of the disease (Haug et al., 2020).

In 2020, Public Health Wales published two Health Impact Assessments (HIAs); one on the effects of the '*Staying at Home and Social Distancing Policy*' in Wales, and one which assessed the impact of '*Home and Agile working in Wales*' in response to the COVID-19 pandemic (Green et al., 2020a; 2020b). These HIAs have identified a breadth of impacts across the population, particularly in relation to housing and how people live and work in their homes.



Positive findings in relation to housing included:

- Rapid action to house people experiencing rough sleeping / homelessness;
- More utilisation of technology to enable people to continue to work and study from their homes;
- Enhanced mental well-being for some due to greater control over work / life balance.

Negative findings included:

- Increased isolation caused by working from home, and worsening of mental well-being across the population, with women, children and those on low-incomes particularly affected;
- Home is not always a safe place. Violence and abuse² has been exacerbated during the pandemic, with some women and children at greater risk of harm;
- Increased risk to poor physical health from working in unsuitable home environments and using equipment that is not designed ergonomically³.

Both HIAs highlighted that throughout the pandemic people have been required to spend more time in their homes and that this can have a range of positive and negative impacts. This report can be read in conjunction with these and the related sections and potential actions.

² This includes Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (VAWDASV), children and young people witnessing domestic violence and abuse, and child abuse and neglect.

³ Ergonomically designed equipment minimises physical effort and discomfort, and maximises efficiency.

A wide range of COVID-19 support measures have been introduced (Welsh Government, 2021a) to support tenants to prevent homelessness and to remain in their homes. An example of this includes *The Renting Homes (Amendment) (Wales) Act 2021* which aims to ensure that tenants will be entitled to a minimum of twelve months rental contract duration and require landlords to give six months' notice (instead of the current two). This is on 'no fault' grounds and landlords will only be able to serve such a notice after the tenant has moved in. The Act comes into force in spring 2022. Additional support measures are outlined in more detail in the following section.

The links between housing and health are well evidenced (Azam et al., 2019; Dyakova et al., 2021; Watson et al., 2019), for example those experiencing homelessness are more likely to die from cancer and suicide, have higher rates of alcohol and substance misuse, and respiratory disease e.g. tuberculosis (Bloomer et al., 2012). Building on the above, this HIA is the third in a series which assesses the impact of aspects of the COVID-19 pandemic on health and well-being in Wales.

'No place like home?' explores the health, well-being and inequalities impacts during the COVID-19 pandemic in relation to housing insecurity. For this assessment, housing insecurity is defined as:

- Insecurity of tenure, including homelessness
- Feeling unsafe at home
- Ontological security (consistency of one's environment, home as a secure base)

This HIA, along with the previous COVID-19 response HIAs, aims to provide information to policymakers and organisations, to understand how secure housing can promote and protect health and well-being both during the pandemic and in a post-pandemic world. It also supports the development of mitigating actions for potential negative impacts which may arise from housing insecurity.

This report:

- **Describes both current and potential positive and negative impacts** on a range of policy areas
- Captures opportunities that could be maximised in the future
- Identifies specific population groups which have been particularly affected
- **Highlights possible actions** that could be taken now and in the future, to maximise any positive impacts and mitigate any negative impacts.



1.1 Background

Wales has the oldest housing stock in the UK, with over one in four homes (26%) being constructed before 1919. Nicol et al (2019) estimated that in Wales in 2017/18, the number of dwellings with any Category 1 hazard on the Housing Health and Safety Rating System (HHSRS) was 238,000 or some 18% of total stock – this is defined as 'poor housing'. The cost of reducing the hazards in these homes to an acceptable level was £2,245 per home – or a total cost of £584 million.

The average house price for a first-time buyer in Wales in May 2020 was £159,375 with the lowest being in Blaenau Gwent and the highest in Monmouthshire (Data Cymru, 2021). Results from the National Survey for Wales monthly survey in May 2020 showed that 54% of homeowners owned their property outright and the other 46% had a mortgage, of which 13% said they had agreed a mortgage holiday with their lender (Welsh Government, 2020a). In the same month, 14% reported that they had kept up with their bills with some difficulty and 3% kept up with their bills and commitments but found it a constant struggle (Welsh Government, 2020a).

The Bevan Foundation (2020a; 2020b) highlight a continued increase in the number of one-person and single wage households. This has important implications which includes:

- Changes in the demand for appropriate housing;
- Housing affordability;
- Council Tax (as a discount is offered for sole occupancy);
- Availability of informal care from another household member; and
- The impact on social contact, loneliness, and isolation.

The link between housing insecurity, housing costs and poverty is well established (Gurney, 2020; Clair et al., 2016; Bloomer et al., 2012; INTs 1, 2, 3). An estimated 7% of parents / guardians with children, the equivalent of 30,000⁴ children, had to choose between paying for food and paying housing costs before and during the lockdown (Shelter Cymru, 2020). The Joseph Rowntree Foundation (JRF) believe that where lower-income households are spending more than 30% of their incomes on rent, they are in danger of having to cut back on essentials, and this puts people at additional risk in the event of an income shock⁵ (JRF, 2020b).

An estimated 7% of parents / guardians with children, the equivalent of 30,000⁴ children, had to choose between paying for food and paying housing costs before and during the lockdown.

Increasing reliance on expensive private rents puts many poorer households at additional risk of poverty. The private rented sector in Wales makes up 13% (Welsh Government, 2020b) of the total housing stock, and remains smaller than in other UK nations (JRF, 2020b). Increasing reliance on expensive private rents puts many poorer households at additional risk of poverty. Poverty rates among private and social renters are higher in Wales than elsewhere in the UK (JRF, 2020b).

⁴ Calculations done by Shelter Cymru based on Census 2011 data

⁵ Income shock refers to an unexpected change in circumstance that causes income to drop suddenly. It can include but is not limited to redundancy, relationship breakdown, illness or accidents (Choudhury, 2021).

Some groups are likely to be more at risk from housing insecurity. These include:

- People living in Houses of Multiple Occupation
- People who identify as LGBTQ+
- Asylum seekers and refugees
- Women
- Families with children
- Children and young people
- Lone parents
- People living with a disability(ies)
- People living on a low income and / or in precarious employment
- Older people



Prior to the pandemic (2013 to 2018) the proportion of people reporting high life satisfaction and happiness in Wales increased, although this was lower than in other UK nations (Public Health Wales Observatory, 2020). Results from the Annual Population Survey identified that people in Wales have worse mental well-being than those in other UK nations (Public Health Wales Observatory, 2020). This was especially true of young people; in 2018 / 19 individuals aged 16-44 reported greater levels of mental disorder than those aged 45-64 or 65 and over (StatsWales, 2019b). Those who lived in the least deprived areas of Wales reported higher levels of mental well-being than those in the most deprived areas (Public Health Wales Observatory, 2020).

The COVID-19 pandemic has exposed and exacerbated inequalities in some Welsh communities. For example, low-earners are three times more likely to have been furloughed or lost their job; those on lower-incomes are more likely to have underlying health conditions that make them vulnerable to the COVID-19 virus; and the effect of school closures could have affected those already classed as disadvantaged (Welsh Government, 2020c).

... low-earners are three times more likely to have been furloughed or lost their job ...

During the COVID-19 pandemic, various support measures have been introduced and implemented to help individuals and households remain housed during the pandemic and to protect their health and well-being and reduce transmission of the virus.

Wide-ranging measures introduced in response to the pandemic include support for tenants to remain in their homes and prevent homelessness (Welsh Government, 2021a). This includes: statutory sick pay and self-isolation support schemes; the extension of notice periods on evictions; suspending possession claims in the courts; loan and mortgage support schemes; grants and enhanced welfare benefits; and the job retention (furlough) scheme. These are to provide greater levels of support and enable people to self-isolate without losing income, where they are required to do so.

2. Methods

HIA is a process that flexibly and systematically considers the impact of a policy, plan, or proposal on a population, through the lens of the determinants of health and well-being. These determinants include social and community impacts, behaviours affecting health such as smoking or diet, and wider environmental, social, and economic impacts. It is an evidence-based method to appraise which population groups have, or may be, impacted by insecure housing or homelessness by the pandemic and response measures and how they will be differentially affected.

HIAs can identify potential (or actual where observed) positive impacts or opportunities, and negative or unintended negative impacts. The process provides evidence-informed recommendations and actions to address these and any mitigation measures that can be implemented to alleviate negative impacts and enhance any positive ones or opportunities. The HIA was comprehensive and participatory in nature and was carried out between July 13 2020 and June 30 2021.

It is based on several sources of evidence:

- Published peer reviewed journal papers;
- Grey literature;
- A community health profile and health intelligence;
- Virtual stakeholder workshops and stakeholder interviews;
- Survey data.

Evidence published until 30 November 2020 was gathered and utilised as the basis for this report. Only those policy developments published after this date which were felt to be significant in nature to the subject matter have been included.

The evidence was weighted, with robust peer-reviewed journal papers and health intelligence and data given more weight than grey literature publications. Other qualitative evidence sources such as workshops and interviews, which were gathered as part of the HIA, were triangulated with this to form a holistic picture of impact.

A community health profile and other health intelligence, relevant legislative and policy context, together with peer reviewed literature, grey literature, workshop and interview summaries can be found in the Supporting Information report (see Sections 2 to 6). This evidence and intelligence has been synthesised and analysed, and used to classify the nature, intensity, and likelihood of the impact as summarised in Figure 1.

No place like home? Exploring the health and well-being impact of COVID-19 on housing and housing insecurity: Summary Report

Figure 1: Descriptors of impact

Positive – impacts that improve or maintain health status

Negative – impacts that diminish health status

Confirmed – actual direct evidence in existence

Probable – more likely to happen than not, direct evidence but from limited sources

Possible – may or may not happen

** Significant – sufficiently great or important to be worthy of attention, noteworthy

Moderate – average in intensity quality or degree

Minimal – of a minimum amount, quantity or degree, negligible

S = Short term – less than 1 year

SM = Short to medium term—1–3 years

ML = Medium to long term—3–5 or 10 years

💶 = 10+ years

3. Analysis

This section presents impacts that have been identified as being Major; or Major to Moderate in nature only. Further information on impacts identified as moderate or minimal can be found in the accompanying Supplementary Information report (See Section 8).

3.1 Population groups

3.1.1 Those living on low incomes

🗮 Жајог	Negative	Confirmed	🚺 – 🚺 Short – long term

The COVID-19 lockdown is likely to have had a negative impact on living standards for people who may have already been struggling financially. Typical non-pensioner household incomes were 4.5% lower in May 2020 than in 2019-20 (Resolution Foundation, 2020).

More than one in three children (35%) – the equivalent of 220,000 children – lived in homes that saw a decrease in income during lockdown. An estimated 30,000 children (5%) lived in homes where parents or guardians had to choose between paying for food and paying housing costs (Shelter Cymru, 2020).

The evidence examined for this HIA highlights that housing insecurity can have a range of negative direct impacts on those on low-incomes, and this was further reinforced in the participant interviews. People living on low-incomes are more susceptible to homelessness and fuel poverty due to high housing and energy costs coupled with inefficiently insulated homes (National Energy Action, 2020). They are also less likely to have any significant savings, and so are more at risk of eviction from their homes once the suspension on evictions⁶ ends (Clair et al., 2016; INT 4; Workshop 2). Previous and current research suggests that people on lower-incomes are disproportionately affected during economic crises (Marmot et al., 2013; National Energy Action, 2020; Resolution Foundation, 2020; INTS 1, 2,3). People who have lost their jobs or had their income reduced due to furlough, who did not previously need support, now find themselves needing help to pay household bills (National Energy Action, 2020; Resolution Foundation, 2020; INT 2). Individuals who are self-employed must be able to provide three years of evidence of their income to be eligible for COVID-19 related government support, excluding those who have begun self-employment more recently (HM Revenue and Customs, 2021a; INT 4); meaning they may fall through the gaps in support.

⁶ Welsh Government legislation introduced in January 2021 extended measures to protect renters during the pandemic by preventing evictions except in cases of anti-social behaviour or domestic violence.

The economic crisis caused by COVID-19 could also impact most strongly on people with lowincomes. The effects of COVID-19 on the labour market have been concentrated on low-earners and the young (Brewer et al., 2020). It is also likely that the impact on the young will be different depending on whether they still live with parents / guardians. People living on low-incomes are also less likely to be able to work from home and work in sectors such as hospitality, non-essential retail, and leisure which were sectors that shut down, or work in public facing roles for example, supermarkets and other retail (Brewer et al., 2020).

More generally, child poverty has been shown to rise during recessions and recede when the economy is growing, and the effects tend to be the most pronounced at the lower end of the income distribution (Bitler et al., 2017). Groups particularly at risk from a recession are lone-parent households, Black Asian and Minority Ethnic (BAME) households and young people (Bitler et al., 2017; Bloomer et al., 2012). These effects have been exacerbated by the COVID-19 pandemic, which was highlighted as a key issue in the evidence. Poverty is one risk factor for child criminal exploitation and serious youth violence (Cresswell et al., 2021; Fairness Respect Equality Dignity, 2020). Young people have become increasingly vulnerable to issues such as poverty and negative and risky activities during the pandemic (UK Youth, 2021), engaging in criminal activity to provide financial support for their families experiencing difficulty (Cresswell et al., 2021).

People living on low-incomes report a greater number of stressors due to the pandemic including stress about friends and families contracting COVID-19, as well their own health and susceptibility to the virus (Fancourt, Steptoe and Bu, 2021).

3.1.2 Private tenants and renters



By the end of lockdown, an estimated 14,913 private renters (4%) had been asked to leave their homes due to falling behind with their rent (Shelter Cymru, 2020).

Research commissioned by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation in May 2020 found that during the initial lockdown almost a quarter of British renters (23%) were worried about paying their rent (JRF, 2020b). This is an increase from 18% who were worried pre COVID-19, and is particularly concerning as 63% of private renters do not have any savings (Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government, 2019).

A Welsh Government survey showed that 20% of respondents were concerned about their ability to pay their bills in a month's time, although this was down from 31% at the start of the pandemic (Welsh Government, 2021b).

Participants in the HIA highlighted that private tenants and renters may be susceptible to a range of negative impacts from poor repair, poor thermal comfort, high rental and energy costs, and overcrowding (Brown et al., 2020; Clair et al., 2016; INTs 1,2,4; Workshop 1). These households can be extremely vulnerable with complex circumstances. Where they have lost previous accommodation and ended up in the private rented sector, if they are then unable to maintain this accommodation then becoming homeless is a possibility for some (O'Leary et al., 2018; INT 2). A lack of security of tenure in the private rented sector e.g. shorthold tenancies was also a common theme in the interviews (INTs 1,2,3,4).

Evidence identified that adequate housing may be more difficult to afford for private renters during an economic crisis and evictions rose during the last recession (Bloomer et al., 2012); this means some households may be forced to live in poorer conditions.

Lack of space has been demonstrated to have a negative impact on the mental health and well-being of tenants, with exposure to damp and cold, rates of respiratory disease, tuberculosis, meningitis, and gastric conditions also shown to be higher in overcrowded households (Bloomer et al., 2012; Shelter Cymru, 2020). Overcrowding can also have a negative impact on children's education and prospects, family relationships and physical, mental, and emotional well-being (Bloomer et al., 2012; INT 1).



Persons who suffer housing arrears can experience increased risk of worsening self-reported health – with the greatest impact on people living in rented accommodation (Clair et al., 2016; INT 4). Where private renters are suffering from mental health issues, evidence in Wales suggests that there is a lack of housing related support for them, and their landlords. Chartered Institute of Housing (CIH) Cymru and Tai Pawb found that 32% of support providers thought that private tenants never have enough support. Just under half (45%) of landlords felt that there is never enough support for them to help tenants with mental health problems. Furthermore, landlords said that they would like to have more accessible information (CIH Cymru, n.d.).

Interviewees highlighted that some COVID-19 response measures, for example the increase in notice periods for evictions, stay on evictions and Tenancy Saver Loans (TSLs), had a positive effect for private renters (INTs 1,4). However, private renters were also more at risk from 'no fault'⁷ (INTs 1, 4) and illegal evictions (INT 1).

3.1.3 People experiencing homelessness

There were 1,171 homeless people placed in emergency accommodation in April 2021, including 423 placements in long-term accommodation. More than 3,566 people were in temporary accommodation and 101 were sleeping rough (Welsh Government, 2021c).

🗱 Major 🛛 🔵 Positive & Negative 🧹	🔪 Probable 🛛 🚺 – 🚺	Short – long term
-----------------------------------	--------------------	-------------------

There have been both positive and negative impacts for those in the population who are homeless during the pandemic. Those experiencing homelessness are a particularly vulnerable group, often with chronic physical or mental health conditions, and exposure to COVID-19 can negatively affect their health further (Lewer et al., 2020; Rozenfield et al., 2020). Previous research has shown that those experiencing homelessness have been overlooked in disaster preparedness planning and therefore it is vital that their needs are included as part of any such assessment (Sundareswaren et al., 2015). In addition, the detection and

... those experiencing homelessness have been overlooked in disaster preparedness planning and therefore it is vital that their needs are included as part of any such assessment ...

management of cases, and prevention of disease in a transient population such as this is far more difficult (Lewer et al., 2020a). People experiencing homelessness or living in temporary accommodation also face particular challenges in adhering to social distancing and self-isolation rules (Dyakova et al., 2021).

A study in England modelled transmission rates during the first wave of the pandemic between 29 January 2020 and 12 August 2020. Positively, the study suggested that people experiencing homelessness were protected by general interventions such as infection control measures in hostels, closing 'dormitory style' accommodation and the broader '*Everyone In*' initiative

⁷ Private landlords are able to repossess their properties from assured shorthold tenants (ASTs) without having to establish fault on the part of the tenant. This is referred to as the 'no-fault' ground for eviction.

(Lewer et al., 2020). '*Everyone In*' is the scheme in England that provided local authorities with additional funding to house rough sleepers and people with no recourse to public funds during the pandemic. Welsh Government has allocated £20 million support for a similar emergency accommodation scheme (Welsh Government, 2020d).

When support measures are lifted, outbreaks in homeless settings, for example hostels and communal sleeping spaces, could result in higher levels of infections and deaths, even where there is low incidence of COVID-19 in the general population (Lewer et al., 2020). Evidence suggests that there are greater barriers to these groups accessing healthcare than other population groups (Song et al., 2021). Accessibility to COVID-19 vaccinations and continued support from services are needed for those experiencing homelessness and for those living in temporary accommodation.

One positive impact identified in the HIA has been the housing of those who are homeless during the pandemic into accommodation (Lewer et al., 2020; INT 1). This has been predicted to have prevented thousands of infections and saved hundreds of lives (Lewer et al., 2020). Additional funding for the provision of emergency and temporary accommodation has also led to opportunities to find more permanent accommodation. For example, in April 2021, 423 homeless individuals were moved into suitable long-term accommodation (Welsh Government, 2021c).

There is also a risk of those housed in temporary accommodation becoming homeless again once supportive government housing provision schemes end (INT 4; Workshop 1). Interviews with stakeholders highlighted the perceived increase in street homelessness as people with unmet support needs were evicted from temporary accommodation (INT 1; Workshop 1).

Those who are homeless are at increased risk of experiencing mental health problems, and are more likely to die from suicide than others in the general population (Bloomer et al., 2012). Those who have experienced homelessness are also more likely to be in poorer physical health than the general population combined with complex longer-term health needs (Song et al., 2021). This study, which linked multiple routine datasets concluded that in this population group, the prevalence and severity of COVID-19 may be amplified because of existing poorer health and unmet health needs.

There is also a lack of research and information on the experiences of people identifying as LGBTQ+ in the homelessness system, even though research shows this group is overrepresented in the homeless population compared to the general population (Llamau, 2019; Workshop 1).

Evidence has identified negative impacts for forced migrants, who as a result of not qualifying for public housing and support have had to choose between staying in abusive or exploitative situations, or alternatively becoming homeless (Hopkins and Assami, 2021). Further research on asylum seekers and refugees is warranted to increase understanding of the impacts and identify mitigation measures.



3.1.4 Children and young people



Negative

🌽 Probable

🚺 – 💶 Short – long term

COVID-19 has exposed inequalities in Welsh communities. It has shown how, for some people, home is not a safe space; some children and young people have been exposed to a disproportionately high risk of harm from gender-based violence, neglect, and other forms of abuse (Wales Violence Prevention Unit, 2020; INT 1).

The NSPCC has reported substantial changes in the level of demand on their services during the lockdown. Childline, the UK-wide counselling service for children and young people, reported a large increase in demand during the pandemic, with 30,868 counselling sessions delivered over a seven-week period (approximately 19,000 counselling sessions a month across the UK) (Wales Violence Prevention Unit, 2020).

Children aged between 0-1 years of age and who move home are more likely to have accidents and be hospitalised (Hutchings et al., 2016).

There are several factors that impact negatively upon the housing security of children and young people, and these have been exacerbated by the pandemic and associated measures such as lockdowns. Previous research identified that overcrowding in the home, and the inability to access outdoor space, can negatively impact children's education, prospects, family relationships, and physical and emotional well-being (Bloomer et al., 2012; Workshop 1). The impact of a lack of space for children within households (for privacy, study, and play) was also highlighted as an issue (Rosenthal et al., 2020; INT 1; Workshop 1 and 2).

Being required to stay at home as part of the pandemic response measures has in some cases made children and young people more vulnerable (Cresswell et al, 2021). Evidence indicates that since the implementation of pandemic response measures, children and young people have experienced an increased exposure to violence and abuse



including online abuse, plus reductions in support and safeguarding services as a consequence of the pandemic have resulted in a decreased ability to identify those at risk of harm (Cresswell et al, 2021). There is also a risk that children may witness increased violence and abuse in the home, such as between parents (mainly fathers to mothers) (Schneider et al., 2016; INT 1; Workshop 2), and evidence suggests a negative impact on both the physical and mental well-being of young people witnessing such abuse (Wales Violence Prevention Unit, 2020). There can be significant long-term health and well-being impacts for those children and young people exposed to violence in the home as an Adverse Childhood Experience (ACE) (Cresswell et al, 2021).

Where families are experiencing homelessness and are living in Homes of Multiple Occupation (HMO) or bed and breakfast (B&B) accommodation (many in single rooms), they are often sharing kitchen and bathroom facilities, making adhering to social distancing rules more difficult. The Children's Commissioner for England has also raised concern about children's inability to attend school, and to do homework whilst in B&B accommodation (Children's Commissioner, 2020).

3.1.5 Homeworkers



Around 40% of workers in Wales are in occupations where it is possible to work from home (Taylor and Griffith, 2020). Due to the pandemic and government policies such as the need to stay and home and social distance, home and agile working has become necessary for many organisations and employees and has been implemented in an accelerated and largely unprepared way, with changes applied rapidly before many of the wider implications were understood. The <u>Home and Agile Working HIA</u> (Green et al., 2020a) identifies a number of positive and negative impacts of home and agile working such as the promotion of work / life balance and diminishing social interaction with increased isolation.

Nearly a quarter of respondents to a YouGov survey (in Wales) said they were being expected to work from home for the first time, and fewer than half of these had a room they could dedicate to work (an office or study). The proportion of people without a dedicated workspace was higher for renters (96%) than owners (81%), and over a quarter (28%) of those without an office or study said that more rooms would have improved their experience of lockdown (Shelter Cymru, 2020).

Those individuals working from home have consequently spent more time in their home, which has resulted in increased energy consumption and may have led to housing affordability issues and fuel poverty (INTs 2, 3; National Energy Action, 2020; Save the Children, 2020). The Place Alliance (2020) found that only 7% of people in their survey said they struggled to work from home. Notably, social renters were prominent among them; with common issues being lack of space, difficulty separating home and work life, as well as poor broadband, environmental conditions, and lack of storage.

3.1.6 Women



The November 2019 Crime Survey for England and Wales (CSEW) estimates that 2.4 million adults experienced domestic abuse in the year ending March 2019. Women are much more likely to be the victims of domestic abuse than men, and men are more likely to be perpetrators of abuse, against women (Wales Centre for Public Policy, 2020).

The effects of the pandemic may have been positive for some women, for instance providing a better work life balance and opportunities for more family time (Andrew et al., 2020; Thomason and Williams, 2020). However, the pandemic has had a disproportionately negative impact on women for several reasons. The HIA on Home and Agile Working (Green et al.,

... the pandemic has had a disproportionately negative impact on women ...

2020a) identified that women make up greater numbers of low-paid workers and are therefore less likely to be able to work from home. Women are more likely to head lone-parent households, live in low-paid households and work in sectors for which home working is not possible. Previous research suggests that this makes women one of the groups more at risk from adverse economic events e.g. where employment is at risk (Bitler et al., 2017; Bloomer et al., 2012).

Women are also more likely to be subject to 'intimate partner violence' (Schneider et al., 2016; Workshop 2; INT 4). Violence against women, domestic and sexual violence and abuse (VAWDASV) is by its very pature, a bousing issue as much abuse occurs in the home

is, by its very nature, a housing issue as much abuse occurs in the home, behind closed doors (Irving-Clarke and Henderson, 2020; Women's Aid, 2020a; Women's Aid, 2020b). VAWDASV affects both men and women, however women and girls are disproportionately impacted by violence and abuse (Welsh Government, 2016). Women living with the perpetrator of such violence may have lost the reprieve that going to work provides and this is compounded by being trapped in their home with an abusive partner (Dyakova et al, 2021; INT 4). They may have also lost access to both formal and informal sources of support and experienced a *'hold on daily living'* exacerbated by uncertainty over employment and housing status – this may also limit their ability to escape (Bagwell-Gray and Bartholmey, 2020). Prior to the pandemic, fears about finding suitable housing and the upheaval and disruption were already a barrier to leaving abusive homes for many women (Women's Aid, 2020a; Women's Aid, 2020b).



3.2 Determinants of health and well-being

The link between housing security and wider health and well-being is well established (Bloomer et al, 2012; Clair et al, 2016; Gurney, 2020; INTs 1, 2, 3). Living in a good quality, affordable home with security of tenure has been demonstrated to have a range of positive impacts for health and well-being (Bloomer et al., 2012; Clair et al., 2016; Gurney, 2020). Likewise, poor quality, expensive, and insecure housing can have negative impacts. Street homelessness and rough sleeping have been identified as particularly damaging, and this damage is cumulative (the longer a person sleeps rough, the greater the impact) (Sanders and Albanese, 2016; St Mungos, 2016).

This section highlights the major and the major to moderate impact of housing, housing insecurity and homelessness in the context of COVID-19 across a range of determinants of health and wellbeing.

3.2.1 Mental health and well-being

Research in Wales (Gray et al., 2020) on the influence of COVID–19 on mental well-being and psychological distress showed lower levels of mental well-being during the pandemic (2020 sample) as compared to before the pandemic (2019 sample). This research showed high levels of psychological distress during the pandemic, with around 50% of the population reporting clinically significant levels of psychological distress, and around 20% showing "severe" effects. This was particularly apparent in younger people, with around a third of individuals reporting "severe" levels of psychological distress.

There has been a high level of service demand for young people struggling with their mental health and emotional well-being, with the National Society for the Protection of Children (NSPCC) reporting over 2,000 counselling sessions a week since the start of the first lockdown (~17,000 in 7 weeks for mental health and emotional well-being) (NSPCC, 2020).



Housing and housing security have been identified as a key determinant of positive mental health and well-being (Bloomer et al., 2012; Clair et al., 2016; Gurney, 2020; INTs 1, 2, 3). This is also true for 'ontological security' (discussed further in this report under 'Sense of belonging' see Section 3.2.3); or the feeling that one's life is stable and predictable (Bloomer et al., 2012; Clair et al., 2016; Gurney, 2020). The pandemic has highlighted that there is a need for good quality, secure, stable and affordable housing (Bevan Foundation, 2020a, 2020b; Resolution Foundation, 2020; INTs 1,2,3,4).

The negative impacts of poor quality, expensive housing have been potentially made worse by the pandemic and associated lockdowns (Centre for Mental Health, 2020). Previous research indicates that living in cold, damp homes, especially in the winter months, impacts on both mental and physical health and on children's dexterity and educational attainment (Bloomer et al., 2012). Housing that is expensive to pay for (either via rent or a mortgage), and to heat and maintain, can mean less disposable income and higher levels of stress about money for some and individuals and population groups. This has been compounded by the increased need for more heating due to staying at home more during lockdown or when furloughed and the associated costs which arise from this (Bevan Foundation, 2020b; Save the Children, 2020).

There are also negative psychological effects associated with housing insecurity. The presence of so-called 'rogue' landlords and the threat of receiving an eviction notice threatens mental wellbeing. Some have experienced further stress due to the uncertainty over the duration of the suspension on evictions proceedings (Bevan Foundation, 2020b; Brewer et al., 2020; Save the Children, 2020; INT 1). The presence of informal support networks is associated with better mental health (Abramson, 2008), and lockdown may well have severed access to some of these informal networks.

Participants in the HIA highlighted a breadth of impacts on mental health and well-being from the pandemic and associated lockdowns (Wales Violence Prevention Unit, 2020; INTs 1, 2,3, 4). The disruption of daily routine, isolation from friends and family members, and removal of social activities and opportunities for play, may adversely affect the mental and emotional health of children and young people. Furthermore, as a result of their own experiences with the pandemic, parents may have struggled to provide the responsive parenting needed to help children thrive during the COVID-19 pandemic (Wales Violence Prevention Unit, 2020).

Stress in other aspects, for example insecurity of work or business, children and young people not having space to play or study, and anxiety about paying rent and household bills, can also affect mental well-being (Brown et al., 2020; INTs 1,2,4).



More positively, participants in the HIA identified that some social housing providers have been effective in providing additional support to communities e.g. expanded welfare calls, which they are keen to build on post-pandemic (Housing Associations Charitable Trust (HACT), 2020; Workshop 2). In a recent policy briefing, the Centre for Mental Health warn of a future increase in demand for support for those with poor mental health outcomes due to bereavement, VAWDASV, family conflict and disruptive events related to the pandemic (Centre for Mental Health, 2020). Landlords could play a key role in identifying and supporting tenants having such difficulties.

Several research reports also highlight the value of proximity to green and blue infrastructure (nature and ecosystems) which can promote mental well-being as well as providing and enabling greater opportunities for physical exercise. Positively, use of green space has increased during the pandemic, particularly amongst older people (Olsen and Mitchell, 2020; Stewart and Ecclestone, 2020; Valleys Regional Park, 2020; Vivid Economics, 2020).

3.2.2 Behaviours affecting health

Health behaviours: smoking, alcohol consumption, physical inactivity and poor diet

Just under a fifth (18%) of adults reported that they currently smoke. Smoking was more common for those in materially deprived households, and less common among people aged over 75.

Around 19% were found to drink more than the weekly guideline amount (average weekly consumption above 14 units). Drinking above weekly guidelines was more common among men and people aged 45 to 74.

Over half (53%) met the guideline amount of 150 minutes' activity in the previous week. Men were more likely to have done so than women. A third (33%) were inactive (active less than 30 minutes the previous week). Inactivity was highest among older adults (aged 75 or over) and those who were materially deprived.

Sixty-one per cent were overweight or obese; a quarter (25%) were obese. Men were more likely to be overweight or obese (67% of men) than women (55%). Obesity was most prevalent for those aged 45 to 74.

A quarter (25%) of adults reported four or five of the healthy behaviours (not smoking, not drinking above guidelines, eating five portions of fruit or veg, being physically active, having a healthy weight); whilst 10% reported fewer than two of the five healthy behaviours. These results remain unchanged over the last four years.

(Welsh Government, 2020e).



Lassale et al (2020) identifies a correlation between housing insecurity, COVID-19 and other behaviours affecting health and well-being. Individuals hospitalised with COVID-19 are more likely to live in neighbourhoods classed as deprived and had less favourable health behaviours, for example, a higher prevalence of physical inactivity and cigarette smoking (Lassale et al., 2020). These cases were less likely to consume alcohol.

Those experiencing homelessness are more likely to have a higher risk of physical and chronic mental health problems and engage in 'health harming' behaviours. They are more likely to die from cancer and suicide, have higher rates of alcohol and substance misuse, and respiratory disease e.g. tuberculosis (Bloomer et al., 2012). Addiction is a key factor presenting increased risk to people who experience homelessness / housing insecurity during disasters or emergencies such as COVID-19 (Sundareswaran et al., 2015).

3.2.3 Social and Community factors

Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (VAWDASV)

For the year ending March 2020 the Crime Survey for England and Wales (CSEW) estimated that 2.3 million adults experienced domestic abuse in the year ending March 2020, comprising 1.6 million women and 757,000 men (Office for National Statistics, 2020a). Women are much more likely to be the victims of domestic abuse than men, and men are more likely to be perpetrators of abuse, against women or men (Wales Centre for Public Policy, 2020)

The CSEW 2019 also suggests that a higher proportion of social renters report domestic abuse (9.0%) compared to private renters (6.6%) and owners (2.5%) (Office for National Statistics, 2020b).

There is evidence that domestic violence increased in lockdown, and some children and young people have been exposed to violence and abuse at home (Shelter Cymru, 2020).

*** – ** Major to Moderate 🛑 Negative 🛛 Probable 🚺 – 🚺 Short – long term

The pandemic and measures such as lockdown and home working have exacerbated VAWDASV (Cresswell et al., 2021; Shelter Cymru, 2020; Workshop 1 and 2; INT 4). For example, previous research has shown male partners experiencing loss of control economically may assert greater control in another area such as their relationship with a female partner (Schneider et al., 2016). In addition, mothers who experience economic hardship and housing precariousness are more likely to be victims of violent or controlling behaviour (Schneider et al., 2016). The pandemic and associated lockdowns requiring individuals to stay at home has meant that for people still living with an abuser, they are likely to be spending a greater amount of time in an unsafe home environment where they are at risk of harm and face the greatest adversities (Centre for Mental Health, 2020). These individuals have lost access to most informal and formal support networks and face enormous barriers to daily living combined with uncertainty over their employment and housing status (Bagwell-Gray and Bartholmey, 2020; Workshop 2). Reports of abuse have been found to be higher in adults under 60, in households with lower-incomes, and where there is overcrowding, and children present (Centre for Mental Health, 2020).

There is a shortage of refuge housing and accommodation across the UK that has led to women and children fleeing abuse to be living in overcrowded accommodation or hotels during their search / wait for permanent housing. Research by Women's Aid (Women's Aid, 2020a) shows that journeys into refuges have become more challenging during the pandemic, despite this being one of the permitted exceptions to 'stay at home' rules (Senedd Research, 2020). Research by the Wales Centre for Public Policy (WCPP, 2020) shows that refuges are highly valued by survivors and practitioners offering a vital service for those in need of immediate protection or respite. However, there is a need for more accommodation that can be specifically utilised to free-up capacity in refuges ('*move-on's* accommodation). This will then ensure refuge spaces are available for those that need them. There is good evidence for the efficacy of Independent Domestic Violence Advocates (IDVAs) in working alongside housing providers and other advocacy services (WCPP, 2020). The provision, access, and uptake of appropriate support for perpetrators is a noted gap in Wales and more widely (Irving-Clarke and Henderson, 2020; WCPP, 2020).

^{8 &#}x27;Move-on accommodation' refers to accommodation that is a stepping stone between temporary accommodation, such as a refuge, and full independent living.

Sense of belonging



Secure housing plays a key role in ontological security and the continuity and ability to establish networks and roots (Gurney, 2020) both socially and in the community. The HIA identified that the loss of this sense of security can have a significant negative impact on an individual as well as on communities through failing to provide continuity, for example, by not supporting renters to stay in one place in the long-term (Abramson et al., 2008; Hutchings et al., 2016; INT 1; Workshops 1,2). In addition, previous research (Marmot et al., 2013) states that there will likely be an increase in the number of people excluded from participating fully in community and social life, where they have been excluded through job loss, reductions in income or housing payment problems meaning they must move to a more affordable home.

The economic impact of the pandemic will have negatively affected many individuals' and households' ability to pay their rent or maintain / access secure housing. Being in rent arrears or facing eviction can be perceived negatively by landlords and can act as a barrier to accessing secure accommodation in the future, leading to a cycle of living in insecure housing or homelessness (Abramson et al., 2008, INT 1). There is also a risk of a spike in homelessness once the pandemic recedes and the emergency measures which have been established are withdrawn (Stephens et al., 2020; INT 4).

Evidence relating to disasters identified that there is increased risk associated with transiency for those individuals living in insecure housing or who are homeless (Abramson et al., 2008; Sundareswaran et al., 2015). Children aged between 0-1 years of age and who move home are more likely to have accidents and be hospitalised (Hutchings et al., 2016).

A positive impact identified in the HIA is that the pandemic has mobilised communities to come together to support one another and volunteer to help others. A series of surveys by Public Health Wales (2020a), found that between 13 and 19 April 2020, 21% of people reported volunteering or supporting other members of their community including neighbours through the pandemic. Participants in the HIA also noted the increase in community support to vulnerable people during the pandemic (Workshop 2; INT 2). A survey running between 25 and 31 May 2020 (Public Health Wales, 2020b) found 87% of people thought stronger relationships between people in communities (including neighbours) would be a positive longer-term impact of COVID-19.



3.2.4 Living and environmental conditions affecting health Overcrowding

In Wales, 6% of social renters and 5% of private renters are in overcrowded housing. Between 1% and 2% of homeowners were in overcrowded housing in all four parts of the UK (Joseph Rowntree Foundation, n.d.).

*** – * Major to Moderate 🛑 Negative 🔇 Probable 🚺 – 🔃 Short – long term

Evidence suggests that poor housing conditions present a threat to health and well-being due to potential overcrowding and the poor physical condition of housing e.g. damp (Bloomer et al., 2012; Lewer et al., 2020; Watson et al., 2019). Overcrowded housing can be a particular issue during a pandemic involving a highly communicable disease such as COVID-19. In a survey for Shelter Cymru, three-quarters of people who said they did not have enough space in their home said that their mental health had become worse during lockdown; compared to 53% of people who said they did have enough space (Shelter Cymru, 2020). Overcrowding or living in a smaller property restricts the opportunities to socially distance and increases opportunities for the spread of disease (Bloomer et al., 2012; Lewer et al., 2020). This is especially true of homelessness shelters, where there are many people in proximity with little ability to socially distance or isolate (Lewer et al., 2020).

Overcrowding can also have various detrimental impacts that will have been magnified by the pandemic and the associated lockdowns. Overcrowding has been shown to negatively impact upon children's education, prospects, family relationships and physical, mental, and emotional health (Bloomer et al., 2012). This can also be exacerbated by inappropriate housing for a household's composition for example, lone-parent or multi-generational households or a mix of home workers and students. Young people from ethnic minority groups may be particularly at risk from hospitalisation from COVID-19, because of the link between ethnicity and deprivation (Bitler et al., 2017; Lassale et al., 2020).



Age of housing and housing need

Wales has the oldest housing stock in the UK with over one in four homes (26%) being constructed before 1919. A lower proportion of people live in flats compared to England and Scotland (Piddington et al., 2020). From 2019 to 2024 it is estimated that between 6,200 and 8,300 additional housing units will be required annually, with a central estimate of 7,400 (Welsh Government, 2020f).



Wales has a large proportion of the housing stock that is old and inefficient (Piddington et al., 2020; INT 3). Housing age and condition has long been linked with poorer health outcomes (Marmot et al., 2013). Evidence suggests that older housing is far less energy efficient and in Wales only 7% of housing built pre-1919 achieved an Energy Performance Certificate (EPC) rating of B

or C, compared to 59% of housing built post-1980 which has achieved that standard (Welsh Government, 2019). Older housing may also have lower space standards making overcrowding more likely and social distancing impossible. It may also lack sufficient (or any) green, outdoor space making spending time outdoors more difficult – especially during lockdown (Brown et al., 2020; INT 3).

Spending more time in an energy inefficient home results in increased energy consumption, and significantly increases the risk of fuel poverty (Brown et al., 2020; INT 3).

The number of new homes built in Wales has been approximately 6-7000 per annum⁹ for most of the last decade, meaning that a steady stream

ENERGY EFFICIENCY

of people can be housed in new, better quality homes. However, Place Alliance (2020) through a survey of 2,500 households (representing 7,000 people) found that respondents felt less comfortable in newer homes than older ones, with homes built between 2010 and 2020 being deemed as the most uncomfortable. This was also found to be true of wider neighbourhoods with older neighbourhoods thought to be more comfortable (Place Alliance, 2020). Homes with a lack of private open space were often in neighbourhoods that did not have public open space to socialise or take physical activity to compensate either.

The lockdowns implemented during the pandemic have meant that some landlords will not have been able, or perhaps willing, to carry out repairs to their properties – further eroding housing conditions for some. Shelter Cymru (2020) found that more than half of those experiencing problems in their homes were unable to resolve them by the end of the first 2020 lockdown.

3.2.5 Economic conditions affecting health

Unemployment

Findings from the Annual Population Survey 2019 showed that 13.1% of all households in Wales were workless households which is higher than the UK average (9.7%) (Office for National Statistics, 2020c).

In Wales, 40.0% of workless households in Wales live in council / housing association dwellings with a further 21.1% living in privately rented accommodation (Office for National Statistics, 2020a). These figures are slightly lower than the figures for the UK as whole (42.6% and 21.8% respectively) (Office for National Statistics, 2020c).



Unemployment and the related loss of income can have a negative impact on housing security and associated health and well-being (INTs 1, 2, 3). Evidence identified within the HIA found that households for whom there is a loss of income experience a negative impact on their standard of living (Marmot et al., 2013) generally. It can also increase the risk of not being able to afford their home which can lead to increased risk of homelessness where welfare benefits do not cover their housing costs, and when the suspension on evictions ends (INT 4). They may also not be able to access a 'Tenancy Saver Loan', one of the measures implemented in Wales to help with rent payments if they have no income to pay it back (Welsh Government, 2021d; INT 1). Additionally, some households that could afford repayments could be refused loans due to poor credit ratings

⁹ https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Housing/New-House-Building/newdwellingsstarted-by-period-tenure

(INT 1). In May 2020, it was reported that 13% of respondents had a mortgage holiday agreed during the COVID-19 pandemic, 24% said coronavirus had caused problems with household finances, and 4% reported falling behind with or constantly struggling to pay bills (Welsh Government, 2020a).

Households who could previously pay their energy bills could also face fuel poverty if they lose their income, or if it has been reduced due to the pandemic. Others may find themselves in need of support to pay household bills or are unable to afford to meet their basic needs (National Energy Action, 2020; INT 2). Participants in the HIA also highlighted that where people are unable to afford pre-payment meters, this could result in rationing of energy or self-disconnection where they cannot afford to pay (INTs 2, 3).

Research suggests that those with housing arrears experienced increased risk of worsening (self-reported) health and that this is particularly acute for renters (Clair et al., 2016). There is also an increased likelihood of VAWDASV, including controlling behaviours (male to female) due to economic hardship (Schneider et al., 2016) (see Section 3.2.3).



Reduced or low-income

The pandemic has had a significant impact on the labour market. In the period August to October 2020, the employment rate in Wales was 72.4%, down 1.9% percentage points on the same time in the previous year, and the rate of unemployment was 4.6% - an increase of 16,000 people from the same period a year earlier (Welsh Government, 2020g). Compared to March 2020, in mid-November there was also 77.1% increase in the number of people claiming Universal Credit (Welsh Government, 2020g).

The full impacts on the labour market have yet to be felt with some government support schemes still in place, and others coming to an end in September 2021. At the end of May 2020, 316,500 individuals were furloughed under the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme in Wales (Welsh Government, 2020h) although this had reduced to 68,800 by the end of June 2021 (Welsh Government, 2021e).



As well as increased unemployment (see above) many households will have had their incomes reduced significantly because of the closure of sectors such as hospitality, leisure, and non-essential retail (House of Commons Library, 2021). Whilst the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (CJRS) (or furlough) has been supportive to those who work in these sectors it has still led to reduced incomes for many as it paid 80% of an employee's wages during the furloughed period (HM Revenue and Customs, 2021b; House of Commons Library, 2021; INTs 1, 2, 3). Whilst this may not be a problem for some, it has the potential to cause economic hardship for others (JRF, 2020b; JRF 2020c).

In a longitudinal survey of tenants, Clarion Housing Group (2020) found that only 34% of working residents had seen no change to their working situation during the pandemic. However, those who had been furloughed were more likely to report that their mental and / or physical health had

improved. The survey also exposed that not all groups have been impacted in the same way, and that people who were in a precarious situation before the pandemic had been negatively impacted upon, for example, disabled people not being able to access food, losing their job, experiencing worse mental health and feeling unable to cope.

As previously highlighted in this report, a reduced income and spending more time at home has the potential for negative impacts, including an inability for some to afford household bills or reduce fuel usage (Bevan Foundation, 2020a and b; Save the Children, 2020). This fuel poverty may be exacerbated by the pandemic-related economic crisis (Marmot et al., 2013; Citizens Advice, 2020; INTs 1, 2, 3, 4).

Individuals may also face having to make decisions about whether to heat their home or buy food (heat or eat) (Bevan Foundation, 2020a and b; Save the Children, 2020; INTs 2, 3, 4).

3.2.6 Access and quality of services

Support services

Citizens Advice data highlights 15,455 instances of advice were given in Wales in relation to housing topics between April 2020 and March 2021 (Citizens Advice, 2021). Most of this (n= 4,991) was in relation to private sector housing, with 1,255 queries regarding Local Authority housing.

There were 93 instances of advice given in Wales in relation to access to sheltered and supported housing between June 2020 and March 2021 (Citizens Advice, 2021). 148 BAME individuals living in Housing Association or Residential Social Letting properties sought advice on housing in Wales in the 12 months to April 2021.



The HIA identified a number of positive impacts in relation to housing and housing security during the pandemic. There has been increased collaborative working within organisations to provide services and take a more holistic approach to support, and work together to target where needs are greatest (HACT, 2020; INTs 1,2,3). It was also noted that the pandemic created the impetus to overcome barriers that usually prevented partnership working – the challenge is to now build on this in a way that increases the capacity of organisations to collaborate (HACT, 2020).

In addition, some Housing Associations have acted as community anchors. The Housing Associations Charitable Trust (HACT, 2020) report that PlaceShapers (a national network of community-based housing associations) members have been in touch with residents to a far greater extent than they would ordinarily. This seems to have built a greater level of connection and trust between staff and residents – the task is now to build on this positive engagement.

Participants in the HIA highlighted that demand for support services has increased during the pandemic due to a range of factors (INTs 1, 2), for example reductions in income (due to loss of employment or furlough) have meant that individuals who did not previously need support with household bills, now do need support (INTs 2, 3). The COVID-19 pandemic has also highlighted



where there are gaps in support. For example, a YouGov survey for Shelter Cymru found that repairs in people's homes were not carried out because of lockdown (Shelter Cymru, 2020).

Accessibility to support services has been limited in some areas, with some services closing, or being reduced with staff being placed on furlough (Centre for Mental Health, 2020; Women's Aid 2020c; INT 2), and many others have moved from face to face to virtual delivery. This may have implications for those who are digitally excluded such as older people or those on low-incomes (Centre for Mental Health, 2020; Women's Aid, 2020c; INT 3). There is some evidence that health services, particularly General Practitioners, were more difficult to access despite changes in delivery methods (Dyakova et al., 2021; INT 4). Whilst some people did report difficulty in accessing services, others found remote provision helpful, even preferable (INT 3; Centre for Mental Health, 2020; Women's Aid, 2020; Women's Aid, 2020).

It was also noted that some landlords are not fully compliant with Rent Smart Wales¹⁰, and it is believed that illegal evictions may be taking place due to a lack of awareness in this area. Therefore, Rent Smart Wales are delivering updated training to landlords to raise awareness of regulations and help clarify misunderstandings (INT 1).

3.2.7 Macro-economic, environmental and sustainability factors Policies and Levers

Data show that improvements in life expectancy at birth have slowed across the United Kingdom (UK) nations in recent years (Marmot et al., 2020) with pooled data for 2015-2017 indicating that men can expect to live 78.3 years and women 82.2 years in Wales (Public Health Wales Observatory, 2018).

In comparison to those living in the least deprived areas, men and women in the most deprived areas spend an average of 19 and 18 fewer years in good health and live on average 9 years and 7 years less (Public Health Wales Observatory, 2018).



Welfare reforms in the UK have led to reduced incomes for some benefit recipients, and reduced access to benefits for others, for example restrictions to the previously universal Child Benefit (Brewer et al., 2020; Marmot et al., 2013). These policies can impact on the most vulnerable, including those who are already housing insecure such as those who work in low-paid sectors which have been closed down due to the pandemic, families on low incomes, or women, thus reducing incomes at a time when basic living costs are rising (Bevan Foundation, 2020b; Brewer et al., 2020; Marmot et al., 2013; 2020). Brewer et al. (2020) states that those most affected by the pandemic are also those households most affected by the twin impacts of the financial crisis that began in 2008 and the subsequent inflation spike which eroded incomes.

The UK and Welsh governments have enacted several positive response measures during the pandemic that can support homelessness prevention and promote better health and well-being (INTS 1, 3, 4). Emergency accommodation schemes have provided funding for local authorities to rapidly house people experiencing rough sleeping in hostels and other housing (Baxter, 2020; Welsh Government, 2020i). Lewer et al. (2020) looked at the number of infections and deaths

¹⁰ Rent Smart Wales assists those who let or manage rental properties in Wales to comply with their Housing (Wales) Act 2014 obligations and provides advice on renting out safe and healthy homes. They also process landlord registrations, grant licences and deliver informative and relevant training for those involved in the rental market both online and in classroom venues across Wales.

avoided in the homeless population in England, concluding that thousands of infections were prevented, and hundreds of lives saved.

The suspension of evictions, rent and mortgage holidays (Baxter, 2020), a £20 per week uplift to Universal Credit to meet additional household costs, and changes to allow people required to isolate to claim Statutory Sick Pay (SSP) (and the removal of the 3 day waiting period for SSP), have been essential in supporting many households (Bevan Foundation, 2020b; INT 3). It has been suggested that consideration should be given to extending these measures over the long-term (Bevan Foundation, 2020b; INT 1,3,4; Workshops 1 and 2).

The pandemic has reinforced the need for sustainable housing solutions to prevent homelessness and support health and well-being. Research has shown the importance of access to green space to physical and mental well-being generally as well as increased opportunity for exercise (Olsen and Mitchell, 2020; Stewart and Ecclestone, 2020; Valleys Regional Park, 2020; Vivid Economics, 2020). In designing new homes, collaboration and co-production would provide insight into the ways that the use of the 'home' is changing, for example, the potential need for a dedicated workspace as home working increases.

COVID-19 also provides a once in a generation opportunity to tie in a 'green recovery' with a sustainable house building programme, that could help to resolve issues such as homelessness, fuel poverty, quality, and suitability, and support the health and well-being of households at risk of poor health outcomes (WCPP, 2020).



4. Key findings

The economic impacts of the pandemic such as being

unemployed and reduced working hours, have had a negative effect on individuals, particularly those on a low-income, women, and young people. Although this has been partially mitigated by government support schemes such as 'furlough', a reduction in income may have caused challenges in relation to housing security; for example, paying bills and heating homes (see Sections 3.1.1, 3.1.2, 3.1.4, 3.1.6).

Private tenants and renters are at risk of insecure housing due to housing being less affordable during an economic crisis, such as that caused by the pandemic, and being at greater risk from illegal or 'no fault' evictions. However, private renters have been positively impacted upon by mitigation measures such as the suspension of evictions and the Tenancy Saver Loan scheme (see Sections 3.1.2, 3.2.1, 3.2.5).

Some women, children and young people have been at **greater risk of harm** through spending more time at home. **Violence Against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence (VAWDASV)** has been exacerbated during the pandemic and there has been limited access to support networks. There are also a lack of refuges to which those at risk of VAWDASV can access support (particularly face-to-face support) and safe housing (see Sections 3.1.6 and 3.2.3).

The pandemic has highlighted the positive **impact of housing and welfare Covid-19 support measures**. For example, homelessness prevention schemes have provided temporary accommodation, however some risk becoming homeless again when support measures end (see Sections 3.1.3, 3.2.3 and 3.2.5).

Poor quality housing and standards can lead a range of issues such as energy inefficiency and fuel poverty (with links to food poverty), and lack of space can have negative impacts on physical and mental health and well-being (see Sections 3.1.1, 3.1.4, 3.2.1 and 3.2.4).

There has been an increase in householders, neighbours and **communities coming together to support one another** and particularly vulnerable population groups, older people and shielding¹¹ people. However, a person's sense of belonging to their community may also have been affected negatively, for example through being socially isolated or being unable to access face to face support (see Sections 3.2.1, 3.2.3, 3.2.6).

^{11 &}quot;Shielding" refers to people on the 'Shielded Patient List' who are defined as being clinically extremely vulnerable to COVID-19, 'shielded' persons were advised to follow extended measures to protect themselves from COVID-19. See https://gov.wales/guidance-on-shielding-and-protecting-people-defined-on-medical-grounds-as-extremely-vulnerable-from-coronavirus-covid-19-html.

4.1 Opportunities

- There are opportunities to invest in future sustainable and affordable housing as part of a green recovery from the pandemic and the associated economic impact for example, accelerating construction of affordable, good quality housing and neighbourhoods (see Section 3.2.7).
- As part of current and new house-building, there is an opportunity to increase the proximity of green and blue infrastructure to housing which can promote mental well-being as well as providing and enabling greater opportunities for physical activity and active travel (see Section 3.2.1)
- There are opportunities to learn from COVID-19-funded welfare and housing programmes, such as the impact of furlough (see Section 3.2.5), and the provision of emergency and longer-term accommodation for those who are homeless (see Section 3.1.3).
- More people are asking for support from services. Housing Associations and other third sector and community groups have increased collaborative working across organisations to support tenants and others during the emergency and built a greater level of connection – there are opportunities to build upon these new ways of working and collaboration (see Section 3.2.6).
- There are opportunities to invest in the prevention of violence and ACEs to make families and communities more resilient to violence in the home (see Section 3.2.3).

4.2 Key evidence gaps

The HIA has identified the need for more research, data and evidence on the implications of the pandemic on housing insecurity and homelessness in the following areas:

- The impact of housing insecurity on Asylum Seekers and Refugees, LGBTQ+ groups, and homelessness (see Section 3.1.3).
- The impact of housing insecurity on those with mental health conditions (see Section 3.2.1), those who are unemployed or those on a low income (see Sections 3.2.5 and 3.2.7).
- Continuing to improve the robustness of homelessness data in Wales, including the provision of suitable accommodation, and access to health and social care services (see Section 3.1.3).

4.3 Future actions

Future actions to promote individual, community and societal well-being:

- Co-produce and adopt an understanding of good quality housing standards across tenures which considers the impact of the pandemic and associated response measures. These should be sensitive to the factors that increase people's sense of housing security and maintain well-being in their home and wider community. This includes ensuring that homes are fit for home working both now and in the future (see Sections 3.1.1, 3.1.2, 3.1.3, 3.1.6 and 3.2.4).
- Invest in sustainable and affordable housing as part of a 'green' recovery and make sustainable place-making a reality, as outlined in Planning Policy Wales, also ensuring that households have local access to green and blue infrastructure and are not digitally excluded (see Section 3.2.7).

- Build stronger relationships between housing developers, planners and communities, and re-think the design of housing to consider a household's future needs such as homeworking and access to physical activity (see Sections 3.1.4, 3.1.5, 3.2.1 and 3.2.7).
- Increase support from relevant organisations for example, housing, local authorities and third sector, for those households who are living in, or at risk of housing insecurity as a result of the pandemic. This includes those who are struggling financially, have poorer mental health and well-being, are suffering VAWDASV or at risk of food and fuel poverty (see Sections 3.1.1, 3.1.2, 3.1.3 and 3.2.6).
- Encourage more long-term tenancies to give tenants greater security and greater protection from eviction, and balance this with the needs of landlords. It is important that those who have experienced a lack of tenancy continuity and / or rent arrears caused by the pandemic do not find this a barrier to gaining future secure accommodation (see Section 3.1.2).
- Provide landlords with more support and information to understand and support their tenants who are experiencing mental health difficulties (see section 3.1.2).
- In the private rented sector, ensure that landlords are registered and compliant with Rent Smart Wales to improve individuals and households' experiences of private renting. Consider awareness raising campaigns with Rent Smart Wales to benefit landlords and tenants (see Section 3.2.6).
- Conduct research to understand the specific impact of housing insecurity on groups such as asylum seekers and refugees and LGBTQ+ groups in Wales (see Section 4.2).
- Monitor the uptake and impact of housing and welfare related Welsh Government schemes e.g. emergency accommodation provision for those who are homeless, suspension of evictions, Tenancy Saver Loan scheme, discretionary housing payments, debt and advice helplines for tenants. This will help to identify those most affected by the pandemic, and subsequently review and revise support measures to learn lessons for the future (see Sections 3.1.1, 3.1.2, 3.2.5, 3.2.7).
- Increase the supply of good quality, affordable and sustainable housing into recovery plans to enhance housing security and sustainable environments (see Section 3.2.7).

5. Conclusion

The pandemic, and related response measures have had a differential impact on people according to their current housing circumstances, with a broad range of positive and negative impacts in the short and long-term.

For people with a safe, secure, warm and affordable home, who have the ability to work from home and are able to access the services they need, the negative impacts are far less than for people who are already facing challenges such as housing and financial insecurity, overcrowding, limited access to support services, or living in an abusive environment.

The findings of the HIA, together with those in the previous COVID-19 related HIAs, can support housing and health policy-makers, local government housing departments and the third sector to consider how the insecurity of one's housing, in terms of both physical and emotional security, can affect households and individuals in a myriad of ways.

There have been some positive impacts of the pandemic in relation to housing insecurity such as increased partnership working between support services, communities coming together to support one another, government funded interventions such as the suspension on evictions, the Tenancy Saver Loan scheme, and accommodation provision for those who are homeless.

There have also been negative impacts, such as increased stress, social isolation, and feeling confined in the home because of lockdowns. Being isolated at home has also placed some women and children at greater risk of domestic abuse. In addition, the added pressure of financial stress, such as that brought about by job loss, reduction in working hours or being furloughed, has been observed.

There are opportunities to improve housing and housing insecurity. Investing in good quality, sustainable, and affordable housing for all will help to form part of the long-term recovery from the pandemic. Increasing collaborative working between housing support services and tenants, and building better connections with landlords will enable tenants to access the support (e.g. housing, financial and social) they need. The pandemic has highlighted the link between good secure housing and mental and physical health and supports further investment in better quality housing that is well-planned and has access to green space.

The provision of good quality, safe, and affordable housing requires a comprehensive and strategic approach across Wales, with national and local co-ordination to deliver these objectives. The HIA has identified opportunities for partnership working between bodies such as local authorities, planning departments and the third sector, to increase the number of homes with affordable (social) rents that meet Welsh Housing Quality Standards.

In the private rented sector, ongoing work is needed with Rent Smart Wales to ensure that more landlords are registered and provide high quality homes.

Finally, the HIA and the previous COVID-19 response HIAs can support sectors and organisations to work together to pave a path for change in future housing and health policy. This will enable households, individuals, and future generations to have and be able to maintain good quality, safe housing, and ultimately a home that is stable and secure for the future.

References

Abramson, D., Stehling-Ariza, T., Garfield, R. and Redlener, I. (2008) Prevalence and predictors of mental health distress post-Katrina: findings from the Gulf Coast Child and Family Health Study. *Disaster Medicine and Public Health Preparedness*, 2(2), pp. 77–86. [Online]. doi: <u>10.1097/</u> <u>DMP.0b013e318173a8e7</u> (Accessed 19 May 2021).

Andrew, A; Cattan, S; Dias, M. C; Farquharson, C; Kraftman, L; Krutikova, S; Phimister, A and Sevilla, A. (2020) *How are mothers and fathers balancing work and family under lockdown*? London: Institute for Fiscal Studies. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://ifs.org.uk/publications/14860</u> (Accessed 11 August 2020).

Azam, S. Jones, T. Wood, S. Bebbington, E. Woodfine, L. Bellis, M A. (2019). *Improving winter health and wellbeing and reducing winter pressures: A preventative approach*. Cardiff: Public Health Wales NHS Trust. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://</u> phw.nhs.wales/news/winter-health-how-we-can-all-make-adifference/report/ (Accessed 5 May 2021).

Bagwell-Gray, M E and Bartholmey, E. (2020). Safety and services for survivors of intimate partner violence: A researcher-practitioner dialogue on the impact of COVID-19. *Psychological trauma: theory, research, practice and policy* 12(S1): S205-S207. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.</u> nlm.nih.gov/32478555/ (Accessed 5 May 2021).

Baxter, J. (2020) Coronavirus: homelessness. Cardiff: Senedd Research. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://research.senedd.</u> <u>wales/research-articles/coronavirus-homelessness/</u> (Accessed 10 May 2021).

Bevan Foundation (2020a). *State of Wales Briefing -Households in Wales*. Merthyr Tydfil: The Bevan Foundation. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.bevanfoundation.org/</u> <u>state-of-wales-briefings/</u> (Accessed 3 November 2020).

Bevan Foundation (2020b). *Transforming Wales: How Welsh public services and benefits can reduce poverty and inequality*. Merthyr Tydfil: The Bevan Foundation. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.bevanfoundation.org/wp-content/</u> <u>uploads/2020/10/Transforming-Wales-through-public-</u> <u>services-and-benefits-FINAL.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 February 2021).

Bitler, M; Hoynes, H and Kuka, E. (2017). Child Poverty, the Great Recession, and the Social Safety Net in the United States. *Journal of policy analysis and management* 36(2): 358-389. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/ abs/10.1002/pam.21963</u> (Accessed 5 May 2021).

Bloomer, E; Allen, J; Donkin, A; Findlay, G and Gamsu, M. (2012). *The impact of the economic downturn and policy changes on health inequalities in London*. London: Institute of Health Equity. [Online]. Available at: <u>http://www.</u> instituteofhealthequity.org/resources-reports/the-impactof-the-economic-downturn-and-policy-changes-on-healthinequalities-in-london/the-impact-of-economic-downturn.pdf (Accessed 5 May 2021).

Brewer, M; Corlett, A; Handscomb, K; McCurdy, C and Tomlinson, D. (2020). *Living Standards Audit 2020*. London: Resolution Foundation. [Online] Available at: <u>https://www. resolutionfoundation.org/app/uploads/2020/07/livingstandards-audit.pdf</u> (Accessed 5 May 2021).

Brown, P; Newton,

D; Armitage, R and Monchuk, L. (2020). Lockdown. Rundown, Breakdown: The COVID-19 lockdown and the impact of poor-quality housing on occupants in the North of England. Sunderland: The Northern Housing Consortium. [Online]. Available at: https://www.flipsnack.com/ NorthernHousingConsortium/lockdown-rundown-breakdown-1hpf1x7e47/full-view.html (Accessed 19 February 2021).

Centre for Mental Health (2020). *Mental health services and Covid-19*: Policy Briefing. London: Centre for Mental Health. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.centreformentalhealth.</u> org.uk/sites/default/files/publication/download/ <u>CentreforMH_MentalHealthServicesAndCovid%20_PRU_PolicyBriefing.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 February 2020).

Chartered Institute of Housing Cymru (n.d.) *Private renting and mental health.* Cardiff: Chartered Institute of Housing Cymru. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.cih.org/</u> media/4amhosw3/private-renting-and-mental-health-a-way-<u>forward.pdf</u>(Accessed 22 October 2021).

Children's Commissioner for England (2020). *No Way Out: Children stuck in B&Bs during lockdown*. London: Children's Commissioner for England. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.childrenscommissioner.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/cco-no-way-out.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 February 2021).

Choudhury, K. (2021). *What is income shock and how to avoid it*? [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.cabotfinancial.co.uk/</u> <u>money-management/understanding-debt/what-is-income-</u> <u>shock-and-how-to-avoid-it</u> (Accessed 17 May 2021).

Citizens Advice (2020). The end of the beginning: How the retail energy market needs to support people in the next phase of COVID-19. London: Citizen's Advice. [Online]. Available at: https://www.citizensadvice.org.uk/Global/CitizensAdvice/ The%20end%20of%20the%20beginning_%20covid%20 retail%20energy%20next%20steps_v2.pdf (Accessed 19 February 2021).

Citizens Advice. (2021). *Advice Trends - March 2021*. London: Citizens Advice. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://public.tableau.</u> <u>com/app/ profile/citizensadvice/viz/AdviceTrendsMarch2021/</u> <u>Cover</u> (Accessed 26 April 2021).

Clair, A; Reeves, A; Loopstra, R; McKee, M; Dorling, D and Stuckler, D. (2016) The impact of the housing crisis on selfreported health in Europe: multilevel longitudinal modelling of 27 EU countries, *European Journal of Public Health*, 26(5), pp. 788–793. [Online]. <u>doi: 10.1093/eurpub/ckw071</u> (Accessed 19 May 2021).

Clarion Housing Group (2020). *The Impacts of COVID-19 in Clarion Housing Residents.* London: Clarion Housing Group. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.clarionhg.com/media/2095/final-the-impacts-of-covid-19-on-clarion-residents.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 February 2021).

Cresswell, K., Barton, E.R., Snowdon, L., Newbury. A. and Cowley, L. (2021). *A Health Needs Assessment: The impact of COVID-19 on children and young people's experience of violence and adverse childhood experiences*. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.violencepreventionwales.co.uk/cms-assets/</u> research/Full-Report_The-impact-of-COVID-19-on-childrenand-young-peoples-experiences-of-violence-and-adversechildhood-experiences.pdf (Accessed 3 September 2021). Data Cymru (2021). Average house prices [Online]. Available at: <u>http://www.infobasecymru.net/IAS/dataviews/</u> <u>tabular?viewId=23&geoId=1&subsetId</u>= (Accessed 5 May 2021).

Dyakova, M. Couzens, L. Allen, J. Van Eimeren, M. Stielke, A. Cotter-Roberts, A. Kadel, R. Bainham, B. Ashton, K. Stewart, D. Hughes, K. Bellis, M.A.(2021). *Placing health equity at the heart of the COVID-19 sustainable response and recovery: Building prosperous lives for all in Wales*. Cardiff: Public Health Wales NHS Trust. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://phw.nhs.wales/news/</u> placing-health-equity-at-the-heart-of-coronavirus-recovery-forbuilding-a-sustainable-future-for-wales/placing-health-equity-atthe-heart-of-the-covid-19-sustainable-response-and-recoverybuilding-prosperous-lives-for-all-in-wales/ (Accessed 23 March 2021).

Fairness Respect Equality Dignity. (2020) *Gangs and youth violence – the impact of the covid-19 pandemic* [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.fredcampaign.org/2020/10/27/gangs-and-youth-violence/</u> (Accessed 3 September 2021).

Fancourt, D., Steptoe, A. and Bu, F. (2021) Trajectories of anxiety and depressive symptoms during enforced isolation due to COVID-19 in England: a longitudinal observational study, *The Lancet Psychiatry*, 8(2), pp. 141–149. [Online]. <u>doi:</u> 10.1016/S2215-0366(20)30482-X. (Accessed 10 May 2021).

Gray, N.S., O'Connor C, Knowles J, Pink J, Simkiss N.J., Williams S.D. and Snowden R.J. (2020). The Influence of the COVID-19 Pandemic on Mental Well-Being and Psychological Distress: Impact Upon a Single Country. *Front Psychiatry* 11:594115. [Online]. doi: <u>10.3389/fpsyt.2020.594115</u>. (Accessed 10 May 2021).

Green, L., Lewis, R., Evans, L., Morgan, L., Parry-Williams, L., Azam, S. and Bellis, M.A. (2020a). *A COVID-19 pandemic world and beyond: The public health impact of Home and Agile Working.* Cardiff: Public Health Wales NHS Trust. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://phwwhocc.co.uk/resources/a-covid-19pandemic-world-and-beyond-the-public-health-impact-ofhome-and-agile-working-in-wales/</u> (Accessed 5 May 2021).

Green, L. Morgan, L. Azam, A. Evans, L. Parry-Williams, L. Petchey, L. Bellis, M A. (2020b). *A Health Impact Assessment of the 'Staying at Home and Social Distancing Policy' in Wales in response to the COVID-19 pandemic*. Cardiff: Public Health Wales NHS Trust. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://phwwhocc.</u> <u>co.uk/resources/a-health-impact-assessment-of-the-staying-athome-and-social-distancing-policy-in-wales-in-response-to-thecovid-19-pandemic/</u> (Accessed 5 May 2021).

Gurney, C (2020). Out of harm's way. Critical remarks on harm and the meaning of home during the 2020 COVID-19 social distancing measures. Glasgow. CaCHE. [Online]. Available at: https://housingevidence.ac.uk/publications/out-of-harms-way/ (Accessed 5 May 2021).

Haug, N; Geyrhofe, L; Londei, A; Dervic, E; Desvars-Larrive, A; Loreto, V; Pinoir, B; Thurner, S and Klimek, P. (2020). Ranking the effectiveness of worldwide COVID-19 government interventions, *Nature Human Behaviour* 4 pp.1303-1312. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.nature.com/articles/</u> s41562-020-01009-0?fbclid=IwAR0KjYTSmexyeQnjyAsPVVriH mxVmTG5oGRgVG6oxIQe9STPLyk152lyJz4.(Accessed 5 May 2021).

HM Revenue and Customs. (2021a). *Support for businesses and self-employed people during coronavirus*. London: UK Government [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.gov.uk/guidance/claim-a-grant-through-the-coronavirus-covid-19-self-employment-income-support-scheme</u> (Accessed 6 May 2021).

HM Revenue and Customs. (2021b). *Changes to the Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme from July 2021*. London: UK Government [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.gov.uk/</u> <u>government/publications/changes-to-the-coronavirus-job-</u> <u>retention-scheme/changes-to-the-coronavirus-job-</u> <u></u>

Home Office (2020). *National Statistics Experimental Statistics Asylum claims on the basis of sexual orientation*. London: UK Government [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.gov.uk/</u> <u>government/publications/immigration-statistics-year-ending-</u> <u>june-2020/experimental-statistics-asylum-claims-on-the-basis-</u> <u>of-sexual-orientation</u> (Accessed 25 November 2020).

Hopkins, J.C. and Assami, A. (2021). *Uncharted Territory Review*. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://phwwhocc.co.uk/</u> wp-content/uploads/2021/08/Uncharted-Territory-Rapid-<u>Review-19_08.pdf</u> (Accessed 3 September 2021).

House of Commons Library. (2021). *The furlough scheme: One year on*. London: House of Commons Library [Online]. Available at: <u>https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/the-</u> <u>furlough-scheme-one-year-on/</u> (Accessed 19 May 2021).

Housing Associations Charitable Trust (HACT) (2020) *Places after the pandemic*. London: HACT. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.hact.org.uk/news/places-after-pandemic</u> (Accessed 5 May 2021).

Hutchings, HA; Evans, A; Barnes, P; Demmler, JC; Heaven, M; Healy, MA; James-Ellison, M; Lyons, RA; Maddocks, A; Paranjothy, A; Rodgers, SE and Dunstan, F. (2016). Residential Moving and Preventable Hospitalisations. *Paediatrics* 138(1). [Online]. Available at: <u>https://pediatrics.aappublications.org/</u> <u>content/138/1/e20152836</u> (Accessed 5 May 2021).

Irving-Clarke, Y and Henderson, K. (2020). *Housing and Domestic Abuse. Policy into Practice.* London: Routledge. [Online]. doi: <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781003002055</u>. (Accessed 10 May 2021)

Joseph Rowntree Foundation (2020a). *Build, build, build social housing.* York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/build-build-build-social-housing</u> (Accessed 18 November 2020).

Joseph Rowntree Foundation (2020b). *Poverty in Wales 2020.* York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.jrf.org.uk/report/poverty-wales-2020</u> (Accessed 18 November 2020).

Joseph Rowntree Foundation (2020c). *Struggling renters need a lifeline this winter. November 2020.* York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.jrf.org.uk/</u>report/struggling-renters-need-lifeline-winter (Accessed 23 November 2020).

Joseph Rowntree Foundation. (n.d.). *Non-decent housing and overcrowding.* York: Joseph Rowntree Foundation [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.jrf.org.uk/data/non-decent-housing-and-overcrowding</u>. (Accessed 26 May 2021).

Lassale, C; Gaye, B; Hamer, M; Gale, CR; and Batty, G.D. (2020). Ethnic disparities in hospitalisation for COVID-19 in England: The role of socioeconomic factors, mental health, and inflammatory and pro-inflammatory factors in a communitybased cohort study. *Brain, behavior, and immunity* 88: 44-49. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/</u> <u>articles/PMC7263214/</u> (Accessed 5 May 2021).

Lewer, D; Braithwaite, I; Bullock, M; Eyre, MT; White, PJ; and Aldridge, RW. (2020). COVID-19 among people experiencing homelessness in England: a modelling study. *Lancet Respiratory Medicine*. 8(12). [Online]. Available at: <u>https://</u> <u>www.thelancet.com/journals/lanres/article/PIIS2213-</u> <u>2600(20)30396-9/fulltext</u>). (Accessed 7 June 2021). Llamau (2019). *Out on the Streets: LGBTQ+ Homelessness in Wales.* Cardiff: Llamau. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.llamau.org.uk/Handlers/Download.ashx?IDMF=1ab2fc66-</u> c571-44f0-8ceb-2d1346f38303 (Accessed 19 February 2021).

Marmot, M; Allen, J; Boyce, T; Goldblatt, P and Morrison, J. (2020) *The Marmot Review 10 years on*. London: Institute of Health Equity. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.health.org.</u> <u>uk/sites/default/files/upload/publications/2020/Health%20</u> <u>Equity%20in%20England_The%20Marmot%20Review%20</u> <u>10%20Years%20On_full%20report.pdf</u> (Accessed 11 September 2020).

Marmot, M; Bloomer, E and Goldblatt, P. (2013). The role of social determinants in tackling health objectives in a context of economic crisis. *Public Health Reviews* 35(1). [Online]. Available at: <u>https://publichealthreviews.biomedcentral.com/articles/10.1007/BF03391694</u> (Accessed 5 May 2021).

Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government. (2019). *English Housing Survey: Private Rental Sector*, 2017-18. London: UK Government. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/up-loads/attachment_data/file/817630/EHS_2017-18_PRS_Report.pdf</u> (Accessed 30 November 2020).

National Energy Action. *(2020) UK Fuel Poverty Monitor*. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.nea.org.uk/researchpolicy/</u><u>ukfpm-2020/</u> (Accessed 5 May 2021).

National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to Children (2020). *Almost 7000 Childline counselling sessions with children about the impact of coronavirus (COVID-19) outbreak.* [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.nspcc.org.uk/about-us/news-opinion/2020/childline-coronavirus-counselling/</u> (Accessed 10 May 2020).

Nicol S, Garrett H, Woodfine L, Watkins G, Woodham A. (2019). *The full cost of poor housing in Wales*. Building Research Establishment Ltd, Public Health Wales, Welsh Government. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://phw.nhs.wales/news/</u> <u>the-cost-of-poor-housing-in-wales/the-full-cost-of-poor-housing-in-wales/</u> (Accessed 6 September 2021).

O'Leary, C; O'Shea, S and Albertson, K. (2018). *Homelessness and Private Rented Sector*. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://think-house.org.uk/site/assets/files/1527/rlanov18.pdf</u> (Accessed 17 May 2021).

Office for National Statistics (2020a). *Domestic abuse in England and Wales overview:* November 2020. London: Office for National Statistics [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.ons.</u> <u>gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/</u> <u>bulletins/domesticabuseinenglandandwalesoverview/novem-</u> <u>ber2020</u> (Accessed 25 March 2021).

Office for National Statistics (2020b). *Domestic abuse prevalence and victim characteristics - Appendix tables*. London: Office for National Statistics. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://</u> www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/crimeandjustice/datasets/domesticabuseprevalenceandvictimcharacteristicsappendixtables</u> (Accessed 25 March 2021).

Office for National Statistics (2020c). *People in households by housing tenure and combined economic activity status of household members, January to December 2019, Wales and UK.* Personal Communication with Jonathon Knight 21 August 2020.

Older People's Commissioner for Wales (2020). Accommodation and support for older people experiencing abuse. Making the case for change. Cardiff: Older People's Commissioner for Wales [Online]. Available at: https://olderpeoplewales. com/en/stopping-abuse/action-group/accommodation.aspx (Accessed on 22 March 2021). Olsen, J and Mitchell, R. (2020) *Change in use of green and open spaces following COVID-19 lockdown 'stay at home' phase and initial easing of lockdown*. Social and Public Health Sciences Unit. Glasgow. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://eprints.gla.ac.uk/223180/</u> (Accessed 5 May 2021).

Piddington, J; Nicol, S; Garrett, H and Custard, M. (2020). *The Housing Stock of the United Kingdom*. [Online]. Available at: https://files.bregroup.com/bretrust/The-Housing-Stock-ofthe-United-Kingdom_Report_BRE-Trust.pdf (Accessed 5 May 2021).

Place Alliance (2020). *Home Comforts: How the design of our homes and neighbourhoods affected our experience of the Covid-19 lockdown and what we can learn for the future*. [Online]. Available at: <u>http://placealliance.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/10/Place-Alliance-Homes-and-Covid-Report_2020.</u> <u>pdf</u> (Accessed 21 February 2021).

Public Heath Wales Observatory (2018). *Health and its determinants in Wales*. Cardiff: Public Health Wales NHS Trust [Online]. Available at: <u>https://phw.nhs.wales/services-and-teams/ observatory/data-and-analysis/health-and-its-determinantsin-wales-2018/ (Accessed 11 September 2020).</u>

Public Health Wales Observatory (2020). *Mental wellbeing in Wales*. Cardiff: Public Health Wales NHS Trust [Online]. Available at: <u>https://publichealthwales.shinyapps.io/Mental-WellbeingInWales/</u> (Accessed 21 April 2020).

Public Health Wales (2020a). *Public Health Wales: public engagement survey (week 2)*. Cardiff: Public Health Wales NHS Trust [Online]. Available at: <u>https://phw.nhs.wales/news/pub-lic-health-survey-reveals-impact-of-novel-coronavirus-covid-19-on-welsh-publics-wellbeing/week-2-how-are-we-doing-in-wales-public-engagement-survey/</u> (Accessed 14 August 2021).

Public Health Wales (2020b). *Public Health Wales: public engagement survey (week 8).* Cardiff: Public Health Wales NHS Trust [Online]. Available at: <u>https://phw.nhs.wales/topics/lat-est-information-on-novel-coronavirus-covid-19/how-are-you-doing/how-are-we-doing-in-wales-reports/week-8-report-how-are-we-doing-in-wales/ (Accessed 22 March 2021).</u>

Renting Homes (Amendment) (Wales) Act 2021. (2021 asc 3). [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.legislation.gov.uk/</u>asc/2021/3/contents (Accessed 14 June 2021).

Resolution Foundation (2020). *The Living Standards Audit* 2020. London: Resolution Foundation. [Online]. Available at: https://www.resolutionfoundation.org/publications/the-liv-ing-standards-audit-2020/ (Accessed 24 November 2020).

Rosenthal, D. M. et al. (2020) Impacts of COVID-19 on vulnerable children in temporary accommodation in the UK, *The Lancet Public Health*, 5(5), pp. e241–e242. [Online]. doi: <u>10.1016/</u><u>52468-2667(20)30080-3</u>. (Accessed 1 June 2021).

Rozenfield, Y. Beam, J. Maier, H. Haggerson, W. Boudreau, K. Carlson, J. Medows, R. (2020). A model of disparities: risk factors associated with COVID-19 infection. *Int J Equity Health.* 19(1):126. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/32727486/</u>. (Accessed 1 June 2021).

Sanders, B. and Albanese, F. (2016). *"It's no life at all": Rough sleepers experiences of violence and abuse on the streets of England and Wales*. London: Crisis. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://</u> www.crisis.org.uk/media/20502/crisis_its_no_life_at_all2016. pdf (Accessed 17 May 2021).

Save the Children (2020). *A Winter Plan for Children: Why families on low incomes shouldn't be left out in the cold*. London: Save the Children. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.savethechildren.org.uk/content/dam/gb/reports/winterplanforchildren.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 February 2021).

Schneider, D., Harknett, K. and McLanahan, S. (2016) Intimate Partner Violence in the Great Recession, *Demography*, 53(2), pp. 471–505. [Online]. doi: <u>10.1007/s13524-016-0462-1</u>. (Accessed 7 June 2021).

Senedd Research. (2020). *Coronavirus: domestic abuse*. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://research.senedd.wales/research-articles/coronavirus-domestic-abuse/</u> (Accessed 22 October 2021).

Shelter Cymru (2020). *Life in Lockdown in Wales*. Nov 2020. Cardiff: Shelter Cymru. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://shelter-cymru.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/11/Life-in-lockdown-in-Wales_Nov-2020.pdf</u> (Accessed 12 November 2020).

Song, J; Grey, C and Davies, A. (2021). Creating an e-cohort of individuals with lived experience of homelessness and subsequent mortality in Wales, UK. *Journal of Public Health* [Accepted] [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.medrxiv.org/content/1</u> 0.1101/2020.12.15.20248252v1 (Accessed 11 June 2021).

St Mungos. (2016). *Nowhere safe to stay: the dangers of rough sleeping*. London: St Mungos [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.mungos.org/app/uploads/2017/12/Nowhere_safe_to_stay.pdf</u> (Accessed 17 May 2021).

StatsWales (2019). *General health and illness by age and gender*. Cardiff: Welsh Government [Online]. Available at: <u>https://</u> statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/National-Survey-for-Wales/ Population-Health/Adult-general-health-and-illness/genhealthillness-by-age-gender (Accessed 8 July 2020).

StatsWales (2020). *National level population estimates by year, age and UK country*. Cardiff: Welsh Government [Online]. Available at: <u>https://statswales.gov.wales/Catalogue/Population-and-Migration/Population/Estimates/nationallevelpopulationestimates-by-year-age-ukcountry</u> (Accessed 11 September 2020).

Stephens, M; Perry, J; Williams, P and Young, G. (2020). 2020 *UK Housing Review: Autumn Briefing Paper.* Coventry: Chartered Institute of Housing [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www. ukhousingreview.org.uk/ukhr20/docs/UKHR-Briefing-2020.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 May 2021).

Stewart, D. and Ecclestone, J (2020). *Enjoying the Outdoors: Monitoring the impact of Coronavirus and social distancing.* Naturescot Research Report no. 1252. Inverness. NatureScot [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.nature.scot/sites/default/</u> files/2020-08/Publication%202020%20-%20NatureScot%20 Research%20Report%201252%20-%20Enjoying%20the%20 outdoors%20-%20monitoring%20the%20impact%20of%20 Coronavirus%20and%20social%20distancing.pdf (Accessed 5 May 2021).

Sundareswaran, M; Ghazzawi, A; O'Sullivan et al. (2015). Upstream disaster management to support people experiencing homelessness. *PLOS Currents. 7*. [Online]. Available at: <u>https:// www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4552382/</u> (Accessed 5 May 2021).

Taylor, K and Griffith, R. (2020) *'Who can work from home and how does it affect their productivity?' Economics Observatory.* [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.economicsobservatory.</u> <u>com/who-can-work-home-and-how-does-it-affect-their-pro-ductivity</u> (Accessed 11 June 2021).

Thomas, I. (2020). *Data Insights: measuring repeat homelessness.* [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.adruk.org/news-publi-</u> <u>cations/news-blogs/data-insights-measuring-repeat-homeless-</u> <u>ness-255/</u> (Accessed 10 May 2021).

Thomason, B. and Williams, H. (2020) '*What Will Work-Life Balance Look Like After the Pandemic?*' Harvard Business Review. 16 April. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://hbr.org/2020/04/what-will-work-life-balance-look-like-after-the-pandemic</u> (Accessed 13 August 2020). UK Youth. (2021). *The impact of Covid-19 on England's youth organisations*. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.ukyouth.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/02/UK-Youth-Fund-Report_1.pdf</u> (Accessed 3 September 2021).

Valleys Regional Park (2020). *Green and Open Space Survey: Data report.* [Online]. Available at: <u>https://valleysregionalpark.</u> <u>wales/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/Valleys-Regional-Park-</u> <u>Green-Open-Space-Survey.pdf</u> (Accessed 5 May 2021).

Vivid Economics. (2020). *Levelling Up and Building Back Better through Urban Green Infrastructure: An Investment Options Appraisal*. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://nt.global.ssl.fastly.net/documents/urban-green-infrastructure-report-2020.pdf</u> (Accessed 5 May 2021).

Wales Centre for Public Policy. (2020). *Domestic Abuse Interventions in Wales*. Cardiff: Wales Centre for Public Policy [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.wcpp.org.uk/wp-content/ uploads/2020/09/Domestic-abuse-interventions-in-Wales.pdf</u> (Accessed 30 November 2020).

Wales Violence Prevention Unit (2020). Understanding the impact of COVID-19 on Violence and ACEs Experienced by Children and Young People in Wales: Interim report. Cardiff: Public Health Wales NHS Trust [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.violencepreventionwales.co.uk/cms-assets/research/Interim-Report-Understanding-the-Impact-of-COVID-19-on-Violence-and-ACEs-Experienced-by-Children-and-Young-People-in-Wales.pdf</u> (Accessed 10 May 2021).

Watson, I. MacKenzie, F. Woodfine, L. Azam, S. (2019). *Making a difference. Housing and health: A case for investment.* Cardiff: Public Health Wales NHS Trust. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://phw.nhs.wales/files/housing-and-health-reports/a-case-for-investment-executive-summary/</u> (Accessed 5 May 2021).

Welsh Government (2016). *National Strategy on Violence against Women, Domestic Abuse and Sexual Violence – 2016-2021*. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/publications/2019-06/national-strategy-2016-to-2021.pdf</u> (Accessed 3 September 2021).

Welsh Government (2019) *Welsh Housing Conditions Survey 2017-18: Energy Efficiency of Dwellings.* Cardiff: Welsh Government [Online]. Available at: <u>https://gov.</u> <u>wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2019-10/</u> welsh-housing-conditions-survey-energy-efficiency-dwellings-april-2017-march-2018-795.pdf</u> (Accessed 22 March 2021).

Welsh Government (2020a). *National Survey for Wales: monthly survey, May 2020*. Cardiff: Welsh Government [Online]. Available at: <u>https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statis-</u> <u>tics-and-research/2020-06/national-survey-for-wales-monthly-</u> <u>survey-may-2020_0.pdf</u> (Accessed 3 July 2020).

Welsh Government (2020b). *Welsh Housing Conditions Survey 2017-18: headline report (updated)*. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-02/welsh-housing-conditions-survey-headline-results-april-2017-march-2018-update-570.pdf</u> (Accessed 6 September 2021).

Welsh Government. (2020c). *A More Equal Wales: the Socio-economic Duty*. Cardiff: Welsh Government [Online]. Available at: <u>https://gov.wales/more-equal-wales-socio-economic-duty-html</u> (Accessed 5 May 2021).

Welsh Government. (2020d). Welsh Government announce new £20 million fund to transform homelessness services and ensure no-one need return to rough sleeping. [Online]. Available at: https://gov.wales/welsh-government-announce-new-20-million-fund-transform-homelessness-services (Accessed 22 March 2021). Welsh Government (2020e) *National Survey for Wales: Headline results, April 2019–March 2020.* [Online]. Available at: <u>https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-re-</u> <u>search/2020-07/national-survey-wales-headline-results-april-</u> <u>2019-march-2020-947.pdf</u> (Accessed 12 April 2021)

Welsh Government. (2020f). *Estimates of housing need:* 2019-based. Cardiff: Welsh Government [Online]. Available at: <u>https://gov.wales/estimates-housing-need-2019-based</u> (Accessed 24 July 2021).

Welsh Government (2020g). *Key Economics Statistics, December 2020*. Cardiff: Welsh Government [Online]. Available at: <u>https://gov.wales/sites/default/files/statistics-and-research/2020-12/key-economic-statistics-december-2020-209</u>. pdf (Accessed 10 May 2021).

Welsh Government. (2020h). *Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme and Self-Employment Income Support Scheme statistics: up to 31 May 2020.* [Online]. Available at: <u>https://</u> <u>gov.wales/coronavirus-job-retention-scheme-and-self-em-</u> <u>ployment-income-support-scheme-statistics-31-may-2020</u> (Accessed 22 October 2021).

Welsh Government. (2020i). Welsh Government unveils package of support to keep people in their homes and end homelessness [Online]. Available at: https://gov.wales/welshgovernment-unveils-package-support-keep-people-theirhomes-and-end-homelessness (Accessed 24 July 2021).

Welsh Government (2021a). Written Statement: Support for tenants through the Covid-19 pandemic. [Online]. Available at: https://gov.wales/written-statement-support-tenants-through-covid-19-pandemic (Accessed 23 July 2021).

Welsh Government (2021b). *Survey of public views on the Coronavirus (COVID-19)*. Cardiff: Welsh Government. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://gov.wales/survey-public-views-coronavi-</u> <u>rus-covid-19</u> (Accessed 19 February 2021).

Welsh Government (2021c). *Homelessness accommodation provision and rough sleeping: April 2021* [Online]. Available at: <u>https://gov.wales/homelessness-accommodation-provision-and-rough-sleeping-april-2021</u> (Accessed 19 July 2021).

Welsh Government (2021d). *Apply for a loan to help pay your rent arrears due to coronavirus*. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://gov.wales/apply-loan-help-pay-your-rent-arrears-due-coronavirus</u> (Accessed 22 March 2021).

Welsh Government. (2021e). *Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme statistics: 29 July 2021.* [Online]. Available at: <u>https://gov.wales/coronavirus-job-retention-scheme-statistics-29-ju-ly-2021</u>. (Accessed 14 August 2021).

Women's Aid (2020a). *The Domestic Abuse Report 2020: The Hidden Housing Crisis.* Bristol: Women's Aid [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.womensaid.org.uk/wp-content/up-loads/2020/06/The-Domestic-Abuse-Report-2020-The-Hidden-Housing-Crisis.pdf</u> (Accessed 19 February 2021).

Women's Aid (2020b). *No Women Turned Away*. Bristol: Women's Aid [Online]. Available at: <u>https://www.womensaid.org</u>. <u>uk/no-woman-turned-away/</u> (Accessed 19 February 2021).

Women's Aid. (2020c). A perfect storm: The impact of COVID-19 on Domestic Abuse Survivors and the services supporting them. Bristol: Women's Aid [Online]. Available at: https://www.womensaid.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2020/08/A-Perfect-Storm-August-2020-1.pdf (Accessed 19 May 2021).

World Health Organization (2021). *WHO Coronavirus* (COVID-19) Dashboard. [Online]. Available at: <u>https://covid19.</u> who.int/ (Accessed 13 August 2021).





www.whiasu.wales.nhs.uk

🔰 @whiasu



World Health Organization Collaborating Centre on Investment for Health and Well-being

phwwhocc.co.uk





Public Health Wales Number 2 Capital Quarter Tyndall Street Cardiff CF10 4BZ

Tel: +44 (0)29 2022 7744

phw.nhs.wales

Email: generalenquiries@wales.nhs.uk

@PublichealthW

f /PublicHealthWales



